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highlights

March...  Phosphagenics signs Material Transfer Agreement 

with Nippon Zoki to assess TPM/diclofenac as a 

prescription item in the USA and Japan.

April...  The Company signs a license agreement with Intas 

Pharmaceuticals for the manufacture and sale of three 

anti-ageing products.

May...  Phosphagenics engages Labtec for the final patch 

design for the oxy patch.

August...  The Company appoints US pain experts Neura 

Therapeutik as strategic commercial advisers.

October...  Phosphagenics licenses Agila Specialties to assess 

TPM® with an injectable anti-biotic formulation.

October...  The Company receives approval from the Singapore 

Turf Club to sell its animal feed and supplements.

December...  Phosphagenics expands the opioid patch to include 

an oxymorphone patch.

December...  Phosphagenics supplies firming cream to GNC 

in USA.



2012 was a year of tremendous progress 

tempered with some frustration. The year had 

started with the Company on a very strong financial 

footing, with a major clinical program planned, and 

continued development in the commercialisation 

of a number of products. We finished the year with 

some major achievements and the outlook for 

shareholder value enhanced. 

The fortunes of the company ebbed and flowed 

on the back of news flow from the oxycodone 

patch program. The need to change development 

partners to Labtec was not anticipated but 

allowed our team to gain a greater understanding 

of patch technology. 

This was reflected in the development work 

undertaken in 2012 involving the expansion of the 

patch portfolio to include other opioids. The first 

additional candidate, oxymorphone, went from 

concept to clinical trials in only six months. 

The level of expertise that the Phosphagenics 

team has achieved, together with input from its 

various development partners and consultants, 

has enabled the Company to expand the range 

of pain patch products that the Company will 

seek to commercialise. 

The high variability between patients’ responses 

to various pain medications means that the 

ability to offer a range of products within the pain 

portfolio strengthens the Company’s commercial 

position. Whilst oxycodone and oxymorphone 

are two of the most prescribed pain drugs in the 

world, the commercialisation of a diclofenac gel 

also represents a large market opportunity. 

During 2012, Phosphagenics was able to 

complete all the preparatory work required 

for the clinical trials, design the target product 

profile and outline the path for registration. 

The Company engaged the services of Neura 

Therapeutik, a company which has considerable 

expertise in the area of pain product development 

and commercialisation. 

After a very promising 2011, Elixia® sales declined 

in a quiet retail market. This was despite the 

addition of more stockists and expansion of the 

brand overseas. The launch into the European 

market through Boots was under whelming and 

a strategic review of the business was carried out.

In the Personal Care division two significant 

agreements were finalised, one with Intas in India 

and the other with GNC in the USA, where the 

Company will supply a unique product formulation 

to our partners for rebranding and marketing 

through their extensive consumer networks. 

Both of these arrangements are expected to start 

to contribute to revenue in 2013. 

2012 also saw the early commercialisation of our 

racehorse feed and supplements products, with 

the launch of feed products in Australia in July. 

This was followed by the sale of supplements and 

feed products into Singapore following the approval 

of our products by the Singapore Turf Club later 

in the year. We are hopeful of gaining approvals 

in a number of other Asian countries in 2013. 

Chairman  
and CEOs’ Report
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On behalf of the Board of Management 

of Phosphagenics, we are pleased to present 

the 2012 Annual Report for your review.
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“The high variability between 

patients’ responses to various pain 

medications means that the ability 

to offer a range of products within 

the pain portfolio strengthens the 

Company’s commercial position.”

Jonathan Addison 

Chairman & Independent 

Director

Esra Ogru 

Chief Executive Officer



PRODUCT PIPELINE
Our opioid pain program has been expanded 

by the addition of a second opioid patch and 

a new indication. Oxymorphone was added 

to the development pipeline and successfully 

incorporated into a TPM® matrix patch. 

Oxymorphone has increased potency relative 

to oxycodone and will form a valuable companion 

product to the existing oxycodone patch. 

The Phase I clinical programs for both opioid 

patches are due to start in the early part of 2013. 

Oxymorphone has already successfully completed 

its Phase I trial with results communicated to the 

market. Oxycodone will return to the clinic shortly 

with the patch completed by Labtec. 

The oxycodone patch will also be clinically 

evaluated for use against a new pain indication, 

topical pain. While opioids remain the drug 

of choice for chronic pain indications such as 

osteoarthritis, lower back or cancer pain, less is 

known about their ability to provide direct relief to 

areas of damaged or inflamed tissue. We recently 

announced a successful study demonstrating that 

a TPM-oxycodone formulation could provide pain 

relief to local tissue, without the need to act via the 

bloodstream and brain. This potentially opens up 

a new avenue of therapy targeting local indications 

such as postherpetic neuralgia, which arise from 

damaged nerves within the skin. The oxycodone 

patch will be clinically assessed for topical 

applications in 2013. The Company has already 

formulated, manufactured and is in the process 

of launching a topical pain product a diclophenac 

gel through its partner Themis Medicare with sales 

expected to add to 2013 revenue. The topical 

pain market is several billion dollars in size but has 

no products incorporating opioids. 

The flexibility of our technology enables 

Phosphagenics to try to develop a range of products 

to deal with a wide range of pain indications. 

ELIXIA®/BIOELIXIA® 
Elixia® is planning the release of new products 

including an anti-stretch mark cream, whilst BioElixia® 

is expected to launch its products into the US market.

In 2013, all products in the Elixia®/BioElixia® range 

will be branded as BioElixia®, with all products 

for export and local sale being homogeneously 

produced.

  
OTHER COSMETIC AGREEMENTS 
GNC and Intas will launch their Phosphagenics 

cosmetic formulations under their own brand. 

These arrangements are further endorsement 

of the TPM® technology and will highlight the 

power of this technology with consumers. 

These types of agreements, (as with Themis’ 

diclofenac agreement) will be the primary strategy 

for product expansion. Phosphagenics will remain 

focused on the development and expansion 

of TPM®, while strategic partners will use global 

marketing and sales power to promote the 

TPM® technology and products. This enables 

Phosphagenics to generate a cash flow of royalty 

type payments with very limited outlay.

ANIMAL HEALTH 
Our partner, Equine Nutrition Australia, is planning 

to launch three to four new animal feeds/

supplements and we are aiming to gain approval 

to sell products into new markets in Asia. 

INJECTABLES 
Agila Specialties is using TPM® to overcome 

deficiencies with injectable antibiotics. Many 

antibiotics are unstable in solution, and must 

therefore be dissolved for injection immediately 

prior to use. Poor solubility in injectable solutions 

can extend the time required for complete 

solubilization, or increases the risks that material is 

injected without complete dissolution. TPM® is able 

to help solubilize the antibiotics, enhancing the rate 

and efficiency of antibiotic dissolution to increase 

the safety profile of the molecules. 

PERSONAL CARE 
Phosphagenics continues to supply Vital ET® 

to Ashland (who took over ISP) for use in the 

personal care market. 
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COLLABORATIONS 
Strategic Collaborations 

Phosphagenics continues to work with a number 

of global companies in the area of product 

development and commercialisation. 

Labtec GmbH - Development 

partner for the oxycodone patch. 

Neura Therapeutik - 

Commercialisation partner 

for opioid program. 

INC - Clinical Research 

Organisation. Clinical trial 

consultants. 

Agila - Development/

commercialisation partner 

for unnamed liquid antibiotic 

injectable. 

Themis - Commercialisation 

partner for a diclofenac topical 

gel product.

Mastitis Management Australia 

- Development partner for 

developing a product to reduce 

problems of mastitis in dairy cows. 

Equine Nutrition Australia 

- Development and 

commercialisation of horse feed 

and supplements, both locally 

and overseas. 

GNC - Commercialisation  

partner for a cellulite cream. L I V E  W E L L .

Intas - Commercialisation partner 

for three anti-ageing products. 

Le Métier de Beauté - 

Development/ commercialisation 

partner for high end cosmetics. 

Nippon Zoki - Development/

Commercialisation partner for 

diclofenac topical gel for the 

prescription market in the USA 

and Japan. 

Ashland (formerly ISP) - 
Long standing commercial 

arrangement to supply Vital ET® 

for use in personal care products. 
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This extensive list excludes Elixia®/BioElixia® 

stockists, of which there are many, including 

major retailers Myer and David Jones. 

It excludes a number of companies with whom 

we are doing early stage collaborative development 

work. Furthermore, there are indications from some 

of the partners mentioned above that would like to 

collaborate on other projects. 

OUTLOOK 
Phosphagenics enters 2013, with three new 

revenue streams due to start this year and 

strong clinical trial program. The development 

of Phosphagenics pain portfolio will ensure that 

the news flow will be constant and the shape 

and nature of the program will evolve as results 

of those trials are released. Phosphagenics will 

have seven different revenue streams. Most of 

the revenue arrangements will be with partners 

who are selling Phosphagenics formulations into 

large and existing retail networks, with minimum 

outlay by the Company.

The main focus for both the market and the 

management in 2013 is to progress the opioid pain 

portfolio through the clinical trial process. Whilst 

our financial position remains strong with effectively 

$23 million of funds available during 2013 (including 

the likely payment of funds from the R&D tax rebate), 

our Board will continue to prioritise allocation of 

financial resources in a manner which will provide 

best returns for shareholders. Phosphagenics is 

indeed fortunate to have identified a number of 

major market opportunities. Success in any one of 

these endeavours should reflect extremely positively 

on our market capitalisation. 

The platform nature of our technology provides 

investors with numerous opportunities for success, 

whilst at the same time reducing the risk to the 

share price that single narrowly based technologies 

have. The failure of a number of biotechnology 

stocks at late stages of development has acted as 

a reminder to all investors of the incredible reward/

risks in biotechnology investment. 

We would again like to thank our very loyal group 

of investors and look forward to 2013 as a year 

when hopefully your patience is well rewarded.
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Commercialisation,  
Markets and Research

Product Target application R&D

Pre-

clinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

Drug Delivery - Pharmaceutical

Insulin Diabetes

Topical Oxycodone Pain

Oxycodone Pain

Oxymorphone Pain

Lidocaine Pain

Injectable antibiotic with TPM®  

(Agila, Strides Arcolab)
Antibiotic

Diclofenac Pain

Drug Delivery - Dermatology

Retinoic acid Acne

Undisclosed - Global Dermatology Co Acne

Product Target Application

Product 

Develop-

ment

Market 

Development

Commercial 

Production Launch

Cosmetic

ELIXIA® Natural Anti-ageing

ELIXIA® - High Performance Range Anti-ageing

ELIXIA® - BodyShaper® Body Sculpting

Le Métier - Peau Vierge Anti-ageing

Intas Pharmaceuticals Anti-ageing

GNC (General Nutrition Company) Body Sculpting Cream

Animal Health - Products

Insulin - Novartis Veterinary Diabetes

Nutritional Supplements - Animal Feed  

(ENA - Thoroughbreds)
Antioxidants, Minerals

Nutritional Supplement - Animal Feed  

(POH/ENA - EEA)
Minerals

Nutritional Supplements - Dairy Cattle (MMA) Mastitis 

OTC Pharmaceuticals

Themis Medicare Ltd (Indian Market Exclusive) Topical Diclofenac

Other Licensing Agreements - Personal Care

Ashland (Formerly ISP) TPM® Supply

Phosphagenics Project

Collaborative Project for commercial partner



THE STORY SO FAR… YEAR BY YEAR
Phosphagenics genesis finds its origin in a share 

placement done in June 1999 by Greenchip 

Development Ltd to raise money to buy a number 

of different technologies. The owners of those 

technologies were to a large extent associated 

with the inventor Simon West. They had had some 

success previously commercialising a technology 

to extract Beta Caratene from Algae which was 

purchased by US giant Henkel and became the 

largest natural Beta Caratene producer in the 

world. Harry Rosen, who was at the time the 

director of Betatene, became the vice president, 

Corporate Development at Henkel. This group of 

investors and entrepreneurs had shown the ability 

to take a theoretical idea to a commercial reality. 

Greenchip Development which was a pooled 

development fund ( which provided certain tax 

advantages), changed its name to Vital Capital 

whose major assets were partial holdings in a 

suite of technologies. In 1999 they announced 

that they had a water soluble form of Vitamin 

E which would have some significance in the 

health drink and supplement industries. Part of 

the technology was a process to extract Vitamin 

E from Palm oil and a pilot plant was built in 

Malaysia to conduct trials. 

In 2000 Vital Capital merged with Greenchip 

Emerging Growth, whose main asset was cash. 

Ironically at this stage, and for the next two years 

the Vitamin E project saw very little in the way of 

development, as other programs seemed closer 

to commercialisation. 

In 2002 the first announcement of the improved 

dermal delivery of oestradoil was made. A number 

of other candidates were chosen with Atropine 

and Testosterone being successfully delivered,as 

well using the Vitamin E Phosphate technology. 

In 2003 Vital Capital completed its first 

commercial deal, the supply of Vital ET® to ISP 

for use in the personal care market. ISP had 

conducted extensive tests that the Vital Capital 

form of vitamin E provided superior delivery to 

other forms. This commercial relationship remains 

in place today ten years later. 

Vital Capital announced success in delivery 

of Morphine transdermally a few months later. 

Research was also dedicated to showing that 

Vitamin E Phosphate had a significant number 

of heart health benefits. On the back of this 

research the Company was able to negotiate 

a successful deal with a US company Zila for 

the sale of its product as a dietary supplement. 

Whilst the total Vitamin E market was impacted 

by negative press around that time, this contract 

gave Vital Capital and later Phosphagenics 

a revenue stream for several years. 

In 2004 trials were started on a heart drug 

APA01 which showed encouraging results in 

animals, and preliminary moves were made for 

the development of a Morphine patch. Ester E 

(Zila’s product) was on sale in the US and a 

material transfer agreement was made with ALZA 

corporation a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson 

to investigate the Phosphagenics delivery system. 

THE PHOSPHAGENCIS EVOLUTION
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Also in 2004 Vital Capital changed its name 

to Phosphagenics, surrendered its PDF status 

and focussed its efforts on the development of 

technologies and solutions using its patented 

Vitamin E Phosphate both as a superior delivery 

system and as a dietary supplement. It was also 

investigated as a drug to help to slow down 

and prevent the development of atheroslerosis 

(hardening of the arteries) as well as reduce 

cholesterol. 

In 2005 Phosphagenics pushed beyond the 

accepted limit of size of molecules that are able 

to be delivered transdermally without disruption 

to the skin. Parathyroid hormone and Insulin were 

molecules of a size that had previously never 

been delivered through the skin. Phosphagenics 

achieved this breakthrough. There was 

tremendous interest in this project especially 

as diabetes was a rapidly growing problem. 

In 2006 the Company started a Phase 1 

trial for insulin after encouraging pre clinical 

results, and Nestle signed an agreement with 

Phosphagenics to investigate its Vitamin E 

product for helping with Metabolic Syndrome. 

Animal trials using Phosphagenics product 

(GTP0805) with cancer drugs showed 

improvement in reducing cancer tumors. 

In 2007 Insulin phase 1 trial results were 

successful and a phase 1 oxycodone trial was 

approved. Phosphagenics had decided to 

implement an oxycodone development program 

instead of the morphine patch upon which proof 

of concept studies had been completed. Purely 

in terms of annual sales, Oxycodone had become 

the dominant opioid in the management of 

chronic pain and was more potent than morphine. 

In 2008 a phase 2 trial on Type 1 diabetics was 

conducted with results in 2009 indicating success 

at being able to deliver insulin transdermally. 

However, a combination of a realisation of 

the costs required to take insulin through to 

a phase 3 and the commercial failure of Pfizer’s 

non injectable insulin delivery drug Exubera 

(which cost Pfizer around $2 billion in write 

offs), meant that the opioid pain patch program 

appeared as a better and more economically 

achievable commercial program. In 2008 

there were a number of early clinical programs 

undertaken with a series of results announced 

in the following year. 

In 2009 Phosphagenics completed its first 

commercial agreement for selling product into 

the cosmetics industry by licensing Le Metier 

de Beaute to use TPM® in its high end range 

of cosmetics sold through up market department 

stores including Bergdorf Goodman and Neiman 

Marcus .The company signed an agreement with 

CSL to investigate TPM® in helping to deliver 

large proteins. The rest of 2009 saw the release 

of results from earlier trials which all showed 

encouragement. Retinoic Acid, Insulin with Type 1 

diabetics, the oxycodone patch prototype, lidocaine 

and diclofenac were results announcements that 

provided further proof of the platform nature of the 

technology and led to the strategy of taking some 

of these further down the commercialisation path. 

Meanwhile, Nestle’s assessment of the use of our 

Vitamin E Phosphate product to address metabolic 

syndrome was not sufficiently compelling for 

Nestle to take the next step of commercialisation. 

There were a number of interesting positive results 

from the phase 2 equivalent trial but not enough 

for them to take a positive commercial view. 

In 2010 the Company refined its strategy to focus 

attention on a single major pharmaceutical goal, 

whilst pursuing opportunities that had the potential 

to provide short term cash flows. Elixia® as an in 

house cosmetic brand was launched with a range 

of natural and high performance formulations. 

However, it wasn’t till the BodyShaper formulation 

was launched in May 2011 that major stockists 

showed interest. The launch through TVSN 

and Myers was highly successfully exceeding 

initial expectations. A deal with AS Watson in 

July led to the Company looking to take Elixia® 

global. Expansions into Europe through Boots 

created great expectation, but a subdued retail 

environment and serious competitive pressures 

meant that sales disappointed and have led to 

internal structural changes for Elixia®. 

In 2011, after having secured 3M as a 

development partner the Company was ready 

to start clinical trials of its Oxycodone patch, 

which it did late in 2011.

We reached agreement with MMA to develop a 

product to solve the issue of mastitis in dairy cows 

a multi billion dollar problem for farmers. We also 

reached agreement with Themis for the development, 

manufacture and marketing of a diclofenac product 

(similar to Voltaren) to be sold in India. 
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The next year, (2012, the year the subject of this 

annual report) we reached agreement with Nippon 

Zoki to investigate the prospect of a diclofenac 

product for the prescription market in the US. 

With our partner Equine Nutrition Australia we 

launched horse feeds and supplements which 

incorporated TPM® and received approval to sell 

products to the racing industry in Singapore from 

the Singapore Turf Club. We provided formulations 

for Intas (an Indian company) and GNC (a major 

US health and well being company) which they will 

rebrand and sell into mass markets. A deal was 

signed with Agila Specialties in relation to using 

TPM® with injectable antibiotics. 

Issues of crystallisation of the 3M patch, in 2012, 

led Phosphagenics to change development 

partners to a German company Labtec which 

had specific opioid patch development expertise. 

The Labtec oxycodone patch is due to enter the 

clinic in early 2013. 

In late 2012 we announced details of the pre-

clinical trials and development of an oxymorphone 

patch and a strategy to assemble a number 

of candidates to form a complete pain portfolio. 

The development of both oxymorphone and 

oxycodone patches are indeed unique. 

IN 2013-14……? 
This evolution of your Company emphasises 

that as a platform technology there will never be 

a shortage of news flow. The core technology 

has progressed from several proof of concept 

trials, to use of and marketing of TPM® into 

a wide range of consumers. Whilst animal 

feed supplements, pain management drugs, 

cosmetics, liquid antibiotics, personal care 

products, neutraceuticals, heart health, cancer 

drugs, insulin represent a huge diverse range of 

opportunities they all have one common theme; 

Phosphagenics patented Vitamin E Phosphate 

(either TPM® or Vital ET®.) 

We have had validation of our technology by 

numerous major and minor companies who, 

through partnering with us, acknowledge the 

commercial potential of our technology. 

The number and nature of solutions that 

can be resolved with adaption of our basic 

Vitamin E platform technology appears 

boundless. The commercialisation phase is 

only just beginning and as the knowledge and 

understanding gained by staff and management 

improves, so does the time taken until 

commercialisation. The fact that the oxymorphone 

patch has taken only six months from idea to 

development to clinic emphasises that greater 

knowledge will help accelerate the processes. 

“We also reached 

agreement with Themis 

Medicare for the 

development, manufacture 

and marketing of a diclofenac 

product (similar to Voltaren®) 

to be sold in India”



Phosphagenics’ patented transdermal/dermal 

delivery technology is a multi-component, multi-

function system that uses a mixture of different 

forms of phosphorylated Vitamin E (a-tocopherol) 

known as TPM® (tocopheryl phosphate mixture). 

TPM® is a non-invasive, versatile technology that 

utilises the chemical structure of TPM® to increase 

the absorption of drugs or key cosmeceutical 

ingredients into the skin. Whereas natural Vitamin 

E is an oil with very poor solubility in water, the 

addition of a phosphate group makes the TPM® 

molecules amphiphilic, meaning they have 

solubility in both water and oil. This is important 

because the skin has both oil and water layers. 

The outer layers of the skin are constructed 

of mostly lipids, meaning that water soluble 

molecules cannot pass easily. The deeper layers 

of the skin have a higher water content, making 

lipophilic (oil-loving) molecules less soluble and 

unable to penetrate further. An amphipathic 

molecule is more suited to traverse both 

lipidic and hydrophilic domains compared to a 

predominantly lipophilic or hydrophilic molecule. 

The TPM® has therefore increased solubility within 

the skin than standard Vitamin E and is able 

to diffuse more efficiently. 

Common transdermal penetration enhancers 

act by chemically or physically reducing the 

barrier quality of the stratum corneum, the outer 

layer of the skin. This may include altering the 

packing of protective lipids or removing them 

altogether, or increasing the solubility of the 

drug molecule within the skin. Regardless of 

the mechanism employed, most (if not all) 

penetration enhancers have a single composition, 

if not a single component. The nature of the 

penetration enhancement is therefore fixed for 

each enhancer and does not have the flexibility 

to suit the differing physicochemical properties 

of a range of different drugs or the ability to alter 

the target location (ie skin at the site of application 

or systemic blood supply). TPM® takes advantage 

of a synergistic relationship between two different 

phosphorylated tocopheryls, each with a different 

solubility profile. The ratio of these components 

can be modulated within a formulation to achieve 

multiple benefits: 

1  Increase the absorption of small  

or large molecules into the skin. 

2  Accommodate drugs with 

various chemical properties. 

3  Target different sites of action 

(local skin or systemic blood 

supply). 

4  Alter the duration of effect 

5  Use different dosage forms 

(liquids, gels, creams, patches). 

Phosphorylated Vitamin E is a natural component 

of the body, so safety, tolerability and level of 

use is safer than most of the other transdermal 

enhancers. Furthermore, TPM® possesses 

enhanced Vitamin E properties, and has been 

shown to independently reduce redness and 

irritation when applied to the skin. In the context 

of drug delivery, this allows TPM® to not only 

increase absorption into the skin for increased 

therapeutic benefit, but also to reduce the 

irritation the drug molecule may produce in the 

skin. This potent combination of effects has been 

demonstrated for the drug molecule tretinoin, 

the gold standard for the treatment of acne 

vulgaris with a known profile of skin irritation. 

TPM® has been shown in clinical trials to increase 

the absorption of tretinoin into the skin while 

reducing the overall irritation. In such a manner, 

TPM® can increase the therapeutic benefit 

of existing drugs by minimising adverse side 

effects that limit the strength of doses that could 

otherwise be used.
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Background on TPM®, and 
how it is distinguished from 
other delivery systems 
By Dr Paul Gavin...Head of research Phosphagenics.



Opioids are amongst the most widely prescribed 

drugs world-wide. The popularity of opioids stems 

from their effectiveness in the treatment of pain. 

Oxycodone and oxymorphone represent the 

two most popular oral dosage forms. Together, 

they represent a significant percent of the total 

market. Despite the enormous widespread use 

of oral opioids, they suffer from a range of serious 

disadvantages: 

  GI related side effects, ie constipation, head-

aches, dizziness 

  Short duration of effect. Breakthrough pain 

can occur within 6-8 hours 

  Drug tolerance develops, requiring increasing 

doses over time 

  Rapid absorption creates euphoria, which is 

the incentive for drug abuse 

  Opioids can be easily extracted for 

subsequent abuse 

  Certain patient populations (ie elderly) 

are unable to swallow pills 

Every one of the above points is a serious 

limitation for oral opioids. By its very nature, 

transdermal delivery addresses all of the above 

issues in parallel. Whilst it would therefore 

seem obvious to develop transdermal patches 

incorporating oxycodone or oxymorphone, neither 

drug molecule has suitable chemistry that would 

ordinarily allow it to pass through the skin in 

therapeutic amounts. 

Phosphagenics is currently developing two 

opioid patches for the treatment of chronic pain – 

oxycodone and oxymorphone. These companion 

products would form part of a pain portfolio 

targeted as a complete chronic pain solution, 

providing around the clock relief for chronic pain 

sufferers with minimal incidents of break-through 

pain. The addition of TPM® to these patch 

formulations is aimed at increasing the delivery 

of the opioids, such that therapeutic amounts 

of material are able to pass through the skin 

to provide around the clock pain relief for the 

duration of patch application. 

For Phosphagenics the advantages of 

developing known drugs such as oxycodone 

and oxymorphone are: 

1 The opioids are well-characterised drugs 

that are understood by both clinicians and 

the FDA with respect to safety, tolerability and 

efficacy. Phosphagenics would not be required 

to demonstrate that the drug provides therapeutic 

pain relief, only that we can deliver sufficient 

quantities to ensure efficacy. 

2 Changes in dosage form (such as 

converting oral oxycodone/oxymorphone to 

a transdermal patch) fall under the 505(b)(2) 

regulatory pathway with respect to submissions 

provided to the FDA. This regulatory route allows 

existing data on the drug molecules to form part 

of any submissions to the FDA, and can therefore 

avoid lengthy, costly and, in many cases, 

repetitive clinical trials.
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Overview  
of our opioid 
development 
program,
what the products are, the clinical 

development pathway, and the  

potential benefits of the product 
By Dr Paul Gavin
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OPIOID PATCH PROGRAM
The opioid patch program has evolved since 

the Company announced the success of its 

Oxycodone patch prototype in June 2009. 

This patch was taken to the clinic in February 

2010 and achieved its end points of safety and 

delivery into the bloodstream. In March 2011, 

we partnered with 3M who helped develop a 

patch to take to the clinic in early 2012. Again 

this improved patch met primary endpoints of 

safety and delivery but issues of crystallisation 

meant that this had to be resolved prior to 

any further steps towards commercialisation. 

With the assistance of our new development 

partner Labtec Phosphagenics was able to 

resolve those issues and formulate a patch that 

is ready to return to the clinic in early 2013. 

In December 2012, Phosphagenics announced 

the expansion of the opioid patch portfolio to 

include other opioids with the first candidate being 

chosen Oxymorphone. Oxymorphone is an opioid 

of similar structure to Oxycodone but in the oral 

form is around 3.5 times as potent. Oxymorphone 

clinical trials began in February. The Oxymorphone 

market is dominated by the Endo product Opana 

which has about 2/3rds of the total market of in 

excess of $600 million per annum (which grew 

by around 17% last year). 

Oxymorphone is a drug which when taken orally 

has very low bioavailability. This and the fact it is 

considerably more potent than Oxycodone and 

Morphine made it an ideal choice for transdermal 

delivery. All the known advantages of transdermal 

delivery still apply, but with the benefit of being 

able to cater for more severe pain indications than 

Oxycodone and Morphine. It was an excellent 

achievement that our research team was able 

to take the oxymorphone patch from idea to 

clinical trials in 6 months. This emphasises the 

level of expertise that has been reached by them. 

The company in early 2013 also announced the 

expansion of the program to investigate the use 

of oxycodone as a topical application (via a patch) 

for more localised pain relief, following on from 

some earlier pre clinical results. A non systemic 

delivery of an opioid would be a unique product 

with none of the issues that are caused by 

delivery into the bloodstream. 

The Opioid Patch Program Remains the 

Focus of our Pharmaceutical Developments 

The opioid patch program is entering the clinic with 

its two main opioid patches in 2013. The patches 

are being designed to provide sustained delivery 

of opioids over 72 hours. Pain has reached 

epidemic proportions in the US with more people 

affected by pain than diabetes, heart disease 

and cancer combined. In 2009, 257 million 

prescriptions for opioids were dispensed 

in America. 

Chronic pain which is persistent pain can be 

very debilitating. A recent market research report 

indicates that more than 1.5billion people globally 

suffer from chronic pain with 100 million in the US. 

Currently there are only two opioids delivered 

transdermally. Fentanyl which is now generic 

but was originally branded as Duragesic, and 

Buprenorphen which is a synthetic opioid which 



is branded as Butrans or Norspan. These patches 

have some issues that are less likely to be 

problems for the Phosphagenic patches. 

These two opioids being far more potent than 

Oxycodone and Oxymorphone are likely to have 

more safety issues, whilst irritation is also an 

issue, especially for Butrans. 

The current market for extended release 

opioids is around $5 billion per annum 2/3 of 

which is sales of oxycodone and oxymorphone 

based opioids. Furthermore, some of the other 

extended release products such as fentanyl and 

buprenorphone patches would be vulnerable to 

substitution by our patches.

We would see in the future, that other candidates 

will be trialed to assess their suitability of forming 

part of our total patch portfolio. 

OTHER PAIN PRODUCTS – DICLOFENAC 
Phosphagenics has investigated the transdermal 

delivery of other pain drugs in particular the non 

steroidal anti inflammatory drug (NSAID) diclofenac.

Diclofenac has undergone quite considerable 

testing since our original trial results announced 

in February 2009. In November 2011 we reached 

agreement with Indian Pharmaceutical 

manufacturer Themis for manufacture and sale 

of our topical diclofenac formulation incorporating 

TPM® in India. The launch of this product is 

expected shortly. Diclofenac is the largest of 

the NSAIDS by sales with the largest branded 

product Voltaren achieving sales in excess of 

$900 million globally as pills and a topical gel. 

In the US Diclofenac is only sold as a prescription 

drug and Phosphagenics has in place an 

arrangement with a Japanese company Nippon 

Zoki for assessing our Diclofenac /TPM® 

technology for the US. 

13
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HORSE FEED AND SUPPLEMENTS 
In 2012 together with our partner, Equine Nutrition 

Australia, we successfully launched products 

targeted at the thoroughbred industry. In June 

we began selling three new horse feed products 

aimed at yearlings and in October we gained 

approval and launched two new products in 

Singapore after gaining approval for their sale 

from the Singapore Turf Club. 

In the recent Magic Millions sales a horse 

which had been raised on TPM®/horsefeed 

products was sold to leading Australian horse 

trainer, Gai Waterhouse. In 2013 we are hopeful 

that arrangements put in place in 2012 will 

open up further markets (predominantly Asia) 

for our products. 

MASTITIS 
In March 2011, Phosphagenics completed a deal 

with Mastitis Management Australia to investigate 

the use of a TPM® based natural formula to target 

the disease of mastitis in cows. Mastitis affects 

15% of the global herd with the losses from lost 

production and medication averaging a loss per 

cow of $200 (over $2billion in the US). Based on 

the size of the herd in developed countries it is 

clearly a multi-billion dollar problem for farmers 

and represents a huge market opportunity. 

The current solution of using antibiotics does 

cause some concern. 

2013 promises to be a year when trial work in 

this area should increase significantly and take us 

closer towards commercialisation.  

14
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ASHLAND INC (FORMERLY ISP)
Ashland Inc sells Vital ET® for formulation into 

personal care products. Its customers include 

the major known personal care brands. Vital ET® 

has been promoted actively as a superior way to 

deliver Vitamin E. The supply of Vital ET® which 

is manufactured in Australia by Phosphagenics 

has been steadily growing and contributing 

to revenue. 

The Ashland contract was the first commercial 

deal finalised by your company having been 

signed in 2003. 

LE MÉTIER DE BEAUTÉ
The agreement with Le Metier has been in place 

since 2009 and been contributing to revenue 

since. Le Metier is a niche market player selling  

expensive cosmetics in up market retailers such 

as Neiman Marcus and Bergdorf Goodman.

INTAS 
Intas Pharmaceuticals is an Indian company 

which reached an agreement with Phosphagenics 

to market three anti-ageing formulations supplied 

by us. The launch of these three products into the 

Indian market is scheduled for 2013. 

GNC 
GNC is one of the largest companies in the world 

specialising in the area of health and wellbeing. 

GNC has agreed to sell a firming cream which 

has been formulated and manufactured by 

Phosphagenics. GNC will use its extensive retail 

network (7,900 globally and more than 6,000 in 

the US), as well as, a significant on line capability 

to sell the product. This product is expected to 

launch in the first half 2013.

15
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The year started with great expectation with the 

international expansion culminating in a launch 

in Europe through Boots as part of the Latest 

Finds category. 

Retail globally has been subdued and this,  

together with widespread discounting in cosmetics, 

created a challenging environment. The areas 

where sales were maintained at a satisfactory 

level were on line and TVSN. This reflects, in part, 

that where sales people have the opportunity to 

promote the science behind the product we have 

the best response from consumers. 

Phosphagenics undertook an extensive review 

of the Elixia® and BioElixia® business and 

made some personnel changes including the 

appointment of the well credentialed and highly 

regarded Greg Moses.

His background and experience covers all aspects 

of the business from selling through retail outlets 

and the growing areas of on-line and TV shopping. 

We are in the process of increasing our on-line 

capability which we are utilising in our launch 

into the US. The key is to translate the anecdotal 

evidence of a high level of customer satisfaction. 

With a focused and dynamic strategy in 

place we are looking at more targeted 

and effective promotional activity 

with our existing retailers and 

rapid expansion into the 

broader Australian retail 

pharmacy channel. 

Additional refinement and consistencies across 

packaging, logistics and supplier relationships 

for improved cost of goods and efficiencies will 

underpin the strategy. 

Driving on-line retail sales is a major focus and 

the launch of a US e-commerce site in the first 

half will additionally support sales expansion 

and brand communication globally. 

 

The introduction of a stretch mark diminishing 

product in 2013 will further support the targeted 

body solutions that Bio Elixia® offers. We also 

continue to strengthen our expertise with 

contract manufacturing and will deliver products 

under license to customers in the US like GNC 

(Global Nutrition Company) throughout 2013.  

In the last few months since Greg’s appointment 

the sales have been more satisfactory, at a 

level reflecting a good improvement over the 

corresponding months in the previous year.  

As the strategy unfolds and repositions the 

brands we are expecting that the next six months 

will see us consolidate at this higher level before 

further progress in the second half. 
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ELIXIA® AND BIOELIXIA®
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BEAUTY IS 
MORE THAN 
SKIN DEEP
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Scientifically proven to reduce 
the appearance of cellulite  

by an average 57%*



ELIXIA® AND BIOELIXIA®

* (1) 2012 Consumer Study, USA, statistically significant results from scientifically validated photogrammetric analysis of 5 women at 28 days and 56 days.
(2) In Vitro Study, 2010. Comparisons between identical formulas - with and without TPM® Dermal Delivery Technology.

cellulite contour crème

TPM® 
DERMAL DELIVERY TECHNOLOGY

DELIVERING MORE KEY INGREDIENTS TO WHERE THEY ARE NEEDED MOST

Scientifically Proven
Australian Made and Owned
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BioElixia® BodyShaper is a concentrated formula of antioxidants and 

moisturisers scientifically proven to reduce the appearance of cellulite  

by an average of 38% in 28 days and 57% in 56 days.(1)

This product blends a unique combination of active ingredients, including 

caffeine and forskolin, with other world-class ingredients that fight visible 

cellulite and give skin a firmer looking, more toned appearance. The secret 

to BodyShaper is our TPM® Dermal Delivery Technology. It’s a world-first 

and is scientifically proven to significantly enhance the absorption of active 

ingredients into skin, by up to 5 times.(2) TPM® helps deliver the active 

ingredients deeper into skin layers, reducing the size of  the underlying  

“fat chambers” that we recognise as cellulite. As the fat chambers diminish, 

skin becomes visibly smoother and redefined.

Key anti-cellulite ingredients within BioElixia® BodyShaper include:

CAFFEINE – helps produce visible toning effects on the skin.

FORSKOLIN – helps optimise skin tone and smoothness.

RICE BRAN OIL – helps balance the appearance of the skin.

ALOE VERA – helps provide a smoothing & calming feeling for the skin.

GREEN TEA, BETA-CAROTENE, RESERVATROL & VITAMINS A, C & E – 

help protect the skin from visible damage and improve the visible signs of ageing.

BodyShaper is free from parabens, formaldehydes, sulphates, phthalates, 

paraffins, artificial colours and dyes, SLS, SLESs & DEAs.
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INJECTABLE ANTIBIOTICS 
In December 2012, Phosphagenics announced 

an agreement with Indian company Agila 

Specialities Private Limited to apply the TPM® 

technology to a liquid injectable antibiotic. 

Agila will be meeting all the costs associated 

with the commercialisation of the product 

including all clinical trials required. 

This represented a totally new area of application 

of the TPM® technology and may open 

the door to a number of other opportunities. 

TPM® improves the speed and solubility of the 

antibiotic powder being prepared prior to injecting 

into the patient. 

Other Commercial 
Opportunities



Intellectual Property
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Title Countries Allowed Countries Pending Expiry

A carrier comprising one 

or more di and/or mono-

(electron transfer agent) 

phosphate derivatives

Australia, Brazil, Japan, 

Mexico, New Zealand, 

Russia, Singapore, 

South Africa

Canada, China, Europe, 

Hong Kong, India, Israel, , 

South Korea, USA

June 2026

Alkaloid Formulations Australia, Canada, China, 

Europe, Hog Kong, India, 

Japan, South Korea, Mexico, 

New Zealand, Russia, 

Singapore, South Africa

Brazil, Israel, USA March 2025

Carrier Australia August 2023

Carrier Composition South Africa Australia, Brazil, Canada, 

China, Europe, India, 

Israel, Japan, South Korea, 

Mexico, New Zealand, 

Russia, Singapore, USA

December 

2030

Carrier Composition Australia, Brazil, Canada, 

China, Europe, India, Israel, 

Japan, South Korea, Mexico, 

New Zealand, Russia, 

Singapore, South Africa, USA

Feb 2031

Carrier for Enteral 

Administration

Australia, China, Europe, 

Japan, Mexico, New 

Zealand, Russia, Singapore, 

South Africa

Brazil, Canada, India, USA August 2025

Complexes of Phosphate 

Derivatives

Australia, Europe Brazil November 

2021

Composition Australia, Europe, USA Feb 2031

Compounds Having Lipid 

Lowering Properties

Australia, Russia Canada, Europe, Japan, 

USA

March 2026

Dermal Therapy Australia, Canada, Japan, 

USA

July 2022

Formulations containing 

Phosphate Derivatives of 

Electron Transfer Agents

Australia, Canada, China, 

Europe, Japan, South 

Korea, Mexico, USA 

Brazil, Hong Kong November 

2021

Improved Processes for 

Phosphorylation

Australia, Brazil, Canada, 

Europe, Japan, Mexico, USA

May 2020

New Composition PCT Stage March 2032

Transdermal Delivery Patch Australia, Brazil, Canada, 

China, Europe, India, 

Israel, Japan, South Korea, 

Mexico, New Zealand, 

Russia, Singapore, South 

Africa, Taiwan, USA

March 2031

Unpublished Applications

Formulations Provisional

Formulations Provisional



22

PHOSPHAGENICS ANNUAL REPORT 2012

2012 2011 2010

NET ASSETS/EQUITY 

per share (cents) 6.1 7.2 5.3 

Amount $62.61 m $72.95 m $39.01 m 

SECURITIES :  
Year End Market Prices Shares

(POH)(cents) 14.5 21.0 12.0 

Options (POHOB)(cents) - - -

MARKET CAPITALISATION $147.9 $213.7 $88.8 

ISSUED SECURITIES 

Shares (POH) quoted 1,020,215,957 1,017,565,957 739,696,509 

Options (POHOB) quoted - - -

Options (various) unquoted 9,400,000 13,150,000 15,450,000 

Rights unquoted 18,100,000 17,400,000 -

$000 $000 $000 

EQUITY RAISING 

Exercise of Options 356 - -

Share Purchase Plan - 3,001 -

Placement - 31,706 -

Capital Raisings Costs (41) (2,066) -

315 32,641 -

FUNDING

Cash and Receivables 17,437 28,124 3,045 

OPERATING RESULTS 

After Impairments and Tax (11,055) 1,106 (11,275) 

NET OPERATING EXPENSES

Research Expenses $3.15 m $4.92 m $2.97 m 

 

Phosphagenics –  
Consolidated Year in 
Review 5 year summary
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PHOSPHAGENICS – CONSOLIDATED YEAR IN REVIEW 5 YEAR SUMMARY

2009 2008 2007 2006

6.8 7.8 22.2 23.4 

$49.99 m $51.55 m $133.76 m $135.47 m 

6.8 7.7 24.0 34.0 

- 1.0 12.0 23.0 

$50.3 $51.1 $144.8 $197.2 

739,696,509 663,542,406 603,440,906 580,105,848 

- 59,630,948 59,630,948 59,632,673 

12,350,000 9,850,000 5,600,000 4,300,000 

- - -

$000 $000 $000 $000 

14 - - 2 

7,000 - 5,517 -

- 9,015 1,483 10,000 

(425) (243) (65) (700) 

6,589 8,772 6,935 9,302 

11,160 13,128 12,292 15,923 

(8,501) (91,206) (8,844) (6,125) 

$3.45 m $6.39 m $8.45 m $4.75 m
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JONATHAN 

LANCELOT ADDISON 

(AGED 60 YEARS)  
BEC (TAS), ASIC, CFTP (SNR)

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR SINCE 
NOVEMBER 2002, CHAIRMAN SINCE 
MAY 2010

LAST RE-ELECTED MAY 2011

Mr Addison has over 30 years in the investment 

management industry, including wide experience in 

superannuation, and insurance. Currently, in addition 

to holding a number of Board positions he is an 

Investment Advisor to the Meat Industry Employee 

Superannuation Fund (MIESF). Previously he was 

the Fund Manager/CEO, of the Fund.

MIESF, a self-administered industry superannuation 

fund established in 1981 which operates 

nationally, currently holds 21,800,000 shares in 

Phosphagenics Limited. Prior to his appointment 

to MIESF, Mr Addison was a Director and Asset 

Consultant within the corporate finance section 

of PricewaterhouseCoopers and in this role 

was responsible for establishing an investment 

consulting practice with clients ranging from 

superannuation funds to insurance funds and 

funds managers. Prior to that, Mr Addison held a 

number of investment management and consulting 

positions in both the public and private sectors.

In recent years Mr Addison has spoken at a 

number of economics and investment related 

conferences both in Australia and overseas.

Mr Addison also holds Non-Executive Directorships 

with, African Enterprise International, (In October 

2010 he was elected International Chairman), 

African Enterprise (Australia) Limited, African 

Enterprises New Zealand Limited, Hawksbridge 

Limited, Global Masters Fund Limited, TPCG 

Limited and Athelney Trust plc. Mr Addison stepped 

down as the Chairman of the Company’s Audit, 

Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee 

in May 2010 as he is now Chairman of the Board.

HARRY ROSEN 

(AGED 65 YEARS) BA, LLB

PRESIDENT AND FOUNDER  
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
APPOINTED TO THE BOARD IN JUNE 1999

APPOINTED MANAGING DIRECTOR - 
PRESIDENT DECEMBER 2005

LAST RE-ELECTED MAY 2004*

Mr Rosen, as founding director of Phosphagenics 

Limited has, since 1999, been instrumental in the 

corporate and commercial development of the 

Company’s portfolio of patents based upon the 

patented TPM® drug delivery system.

Previously, Mr Rosen was one of the founders 

of Betatene Limited and Denehurst Limited, 

two formerly ASX listed companies which 

commercialised significant research and 

development. Betatene is the world’s largest 

producer of natural beta carotene. After the 

purchase of Betatene Limited by Henkel 

Corporation, Mr Rosen served as Vice President, 

Corporate Development. As a Vice President of 

Henkel Corporation, he worked for a number of 

years in the U.S. in the nutrition and health care 

industries.

Mr Rosen has consulted to many technology 

companies assisting them with the 

commercialisation of new technologies. He has 

had significant experience in the areas of seed 

capital raising, stock exchange listings, taxation 

and corporate law. Mr Rosen graduated from the 

Australian National University (BA-Psychology) 

and Melbourne University (LLB).

*As Managing Director Mr Rosen  

is not required to retire by rotation.
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DR ESRA OGRU 

(AGED 37 YEARS) BSC (HONS) PHD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SINCE 
OCTOBER 2005

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SINCE MAY 2010

LAST RE-ELECTED MAY 2012

Dr Ogru was appointed CEO of Phosphagenics 

in April 2010. Her responsibilities include 

involvement in setting strategic direction, 

management of operations and financing activities 

for the company. She also plays an active role in 

driving key commercial negotiations, development 

programs and corporate activity. She achieves 

this through strong leadership of an experienced 

pharmaceutical development team and strategic 

collaborations.

Dr Ogru has many years experience in the 

pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries 

working in development and senior management 

roles. She is currently the chair of the Australian 

Biotechnology Victorian Committee and also is the 

member for the Victorian Biotechnology Council.

DON CLARKE 

(AGED 59 YEARS)  
LLB (HONS)

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR APPOINTED 
AUGUST 2010

ELECTED MAY 2011

Mr Don Clarke has been a partner of law firm 

Minter Ellison since 1988. He serves in the 

Melbourne Private Equity & Capital Markets 

group, predominantly advising ASX listed 

companies across a range of industries with 

emphasis on technology and manufacturing.

Mr Clarke is also the Deputy Chairman of 

Webjet Limited and a Director of Circadian 

Technologies Limited. He previously served on 

the Board of Calzada Limited (formerly Metabolic 

Pharmaceuticals Limited).

Mr Clarke was appointed as the Chairman of the 

Company’s Audit, Compliance and Corporate 

Governance Committee in August 2010.

STUART JAMES 

(AGED 64 YEARS) BA (HONS)

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 
APPOINTED AUGUST 2010

ELECTED MAY 2011

Mr Stuart James has held a 

number of high profile executive 

positions during his career and 

has extensive experience in the 

oil, health, pharmaceutical and 

financial services sectors. Following 

a 25 year career with Shell, both in 

Australia and internationally, Mr James’ 

past roles have included Managing Director of 

Australian Financial Services for Colonial Group 

and Managing Director of Colonial State Bank 

(formerly the State Bank of NSW).

Mr James’ most recent executive role was as 

CEO of the Mayne Group, including Mayne 

Health and Mayne Pharma. He is a Member 

of the Supervisory Board of Wolters Kluwer NV. 

Mr James is Chairman of Pulse Health Ltd, Progen 

Pharmaceuticals Ltd, Prime Financial Group Ltd 

and a Non-Executive Director of Greencross Ltd.

Mr James is a member of the Company’s 

Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance 

Committee.

THE BOARD

DRDRRDR EEEESRSRSRSRAAA OGOOGRRU
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DR SANDRA WEBB 

(AGED 66 YEARS)

BPHARM, PHD, DIP LAW

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 
APPOINTED AUGUST 2010

ELECTED MAY 2011

Dr Sandra Webb rejoined Phosphagenics, 

having served with the company as 

Pharmaceutical Development Advisor from 

February 2005 to June 2006. Dr Webb is 

a Director of Ground Zero Pharmaceuticals 

Pty Limited and Chair of the Advisory Board 

of Knightsbridge Lawyers & Patent Attorneys. 

She previously served on the Boards of 

AusBiotech Limited, Amrad Corporation Limited 

and Quintiles Pty Limited.

An experienced biopharmaceutical professional, 

Dr Webb has a strong track record of 

achievements in the commercial world of 

drug development. As founding Managing 

Director of Quintiles Australia, she successfully 

grew the company as the leading commercial 

research organisation in Australia. Under her 

stewardship Quintiles Australia was the most 

profitable subsidiary of the worldwide Quintiles 

Transnational Inc.

Dr Webb is a member of the Company’s Audit, 

Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY
MOURICE GARBUTT FCIS, FCAS

Mr Garbutt, through his professional corporate 

secretarial and compliance service company, 

provides secretarial, clerical and corporate 

governance support to client companies in Australia 

many of which are listed on the ASX Limited. 

Fees are charged on normal commercial terms.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principle activities of the Company are the 

production, sale and licensing of products for the 

cosmeceutical, nutraceutical and pharmaceutical, 

and animal health industries.
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DIRECTORSHIPS OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES
Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the three years immediately before the end of 

the financial year are as follows:

NAME  COMPANY PERIOD OF DIRECTORSHIP

Jonathan Addison Global Masters Fund Limited Since 19 April 2005

Don Clarke Circadian Technologies Limited Since 1 September 2005 

 Webjet Limited Since 10 January 2008

Stuart James Wolters Kluwer NV Since 26 April 2006 

 Pulse Health Limited Since 7 November 2007 

 Prime Financial Group Limited Since 16 May 2006 

 Progen Limited Since 1 July 2009 

 Greencross Limited Since 30 October 2009
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DR PAUL GAVIN

Chief Scientific Officer

Dr Gavin joined 

Phosphagenics in 2002 

whilst completing his 

PhD in Biochemistry and 

Molecular Biology at Monash 

University. He had previously 

completed a Bachelor of Science 

degree (with honors) majoring 

in Biochemistry.

He has been involved in many of the major 

research developments at Phosphagenics, 

including the “eureka” moment in early 2005 

when the team created TPM® nanoparticles. 

These formulations became a very unique and 

highly valuable delivery system and formed the 

platform for the subsequent evolution of the 

TPM® delivery system.

Dr Gavin’s current role as Chief Scientific Officer 

involves overseeing the company’s pre-clinical 

and clinical research programs, liaising with key 

opinion leaders and regulatory experts, providing 

input into strategic decision making and helping 

develop and formulate new products for the 

Elixia® range.

He is experienced in many aspects of academic 

and commercial research and development and 

has published in peer journals, as well as being 

an inventor on multiple patents.

ANNA LEGG

Chief Financial 

Officer

Ms Legg joined 

Phosphagenics 

in January 2013. 

She holds a Bachelor 

of Economics from 

Macquarie University, Sydney 

and a Diploma in Law from the Legal Profession 

Admission Board, Sydney.

She has over 15 years experience in financial 

management in government, private and public 

companies. She has been involved in establishing 

international entities covering their tax, legal and 

funding requirements. Her particular strengths 

include statutory reporting, system development 

and financial modelling.

Ms Legg will work closely with the CEO and 

Senior Management Team to provide financial 

support for the growth of the business in Australia 

and Internationally.

GREG MOSES

General Manager, 

Personal Care

Mr Moses joined us 

in November 2012. 

His experience spans 

wholesale and retail 

brand development. 

His previous roles have 

included General Manager 

at Australian Natural Brands 

and Purity Australia, working 

with popular brand in Essence and 

Oil Garden Aromatherapy. He has also worked 

with leading Australian brand, Natio Pty Ltd, 

and is renowned for his ability to build brands 

with outcomes of strong sales growth.

Mr Moses also spent several years as a Business 

Manager for Myer Grace Bros and was part of the 

team responsible for returning the failing Bendigo 

store into a profitable operation.

Senior Management
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Phosphagenics Staff  
Deliver More…
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Your directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2012.

DIRECTORS
The names and details of the Company’s directors in offi ce during the fi nancial year and until the date 

of this report are as follows. Directors were in offi ce for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Currently in Offi ce

DR SANDRA WEBB 

DIRECTORSHIPS OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES
Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the three years immediately before the end 

of the fi nancial year are as follows:

Name Company Period of Directorship

Jonathan Addison Global Masters Fund Limited Since 19 April 2005

Don Clarke Circadian Technologies Limited

Webjet Limited

Since 1 September 2005

Since 10 January 2008

Stuart James Wolters Kluwer NV

Pulse Health Limited

Prime Financial Group Limited

Progen Limited

Greencross Limited

Since 26 April 2006

Since 7 November 2007

Since 16 May 2006

Since 1 July 2009

Since 30 October 2009

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mourice Garbutt FCIS, FCAS 

Mr Garbutt, through his professional corporate secretarial and compliance service company, provides 

secretarial, clerical and corporate governance support to client companies in Australia many of which 

are listed on the ASX Limited. Fees are charged on normal commercial terms.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principle activities of the Company are the production, sale and licensing of products for the 

cosmeceutical, nutraceutical and pharmaceutical, and animal health industries.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
At the end of December 2012, the company held $16.9 million in cash and cash equivalents. Closing 

cash was lower than the amount held at December 2011 of $27.2 million. Funds were primarily used 

to advance the clinical development and manufacturing of the Company’s core development products 

– the world’s fi rst oxycodone and oxymorphone pain patches, and to fund the continued product rollout 

of its personal care range.

Revenues for the year of $2.7 million decreased by 16% from $3.2 million in 2011, due mainly to a decrease in 

ELIXIA® sales caused by the current challenging conditions of the Australian and international retail environment.

Product sales decreased year on year by 48%, to 1.3 million, again mainly due to the decrease of ELIXIA® sales.
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Net loss after tax for the year was $11.1 million as compared to a net profi t after tax in 2011 of 

$1.1 million. During 2011 the company elected to form a tax consolidated group, giving rise to an income 

tax benefi t of $13.8 million during that year.

The operating loss before amortisation of intangible assets and income tax was $6.4 million, a decrease 

from $10.3 million in 2011.

For further details refer to the attached Financial Statements and notes.

Research & development

A number of R&D achievements were made in 2012 TPM/Oxycodone. Development of the TPM/ 

Oxycodone patch was partnered with Labtec, a German company with specialist expertise in opioid patch 

development. The patch is expected to return to the clinic early in 2013.

TPM/Oxymorphone. Phosphagenics is developing a TPM/ Oxymorphone patch which will undergo 

a Phase 1 clinical trial in the fi rst quarter 2013. Oxymorphone is an opioid structurally similar to oxycodone 

but approved for medium to high pain indications. It is 3.5 times stronger than oxycodone. Pre clinical 

research on formulating a TPM/Oxymorphone patch has been very encouraging.

In early 2012 Elixia formulation for body shaper was changed. The new formulation was trialled in a human 

focus group and provided results that showed that twice daily application of Body Shaper Cellulite 

Contour Crème successfully reduced the visible appearance of cellulite over the eight week treatment 

period and also had positive effects on skin elasticity and hydration.

In the second half of the year Phosphagenics, with its partner Equine Nutrition Australia, conducted trials 

on 26 horses using TPM supplements aimed at boosting red blood cell count. The trial results and the 

observations from them have assisted in commercialising animal feed products.

Commercial Agreements

Several agreements were fi nalised in 2012 including:

•  Partnering with Labtec GmbH to continue development of the Oxycodone Patch

•  Agreement with Neura Therapeutik to provide commercial and clinical development advice 

on the opioid patch program.

•  David Jones became a stockist for Elixia Products.

•  A Korean Drug Company agree to become a distributer of BioElixia BodyShaper in South Korea.

•  GNC, a major US nutritional company, agree to market a cellulite cream formulation supplied 

by us but branded and marketed by GNC.

•  Agreement reached to supply three anti ageing formulations to Intas for sale under their brand 

in the Indian market.

•  Agreement with Nippon Zoki to evaluate TPM/diclofenac for the US and Japanese markets

•  Agreement with Equine Nutrition Australia for development and commercialisation of animal health 

markets. Feed products were launched in July 2012.

•  Agreement with Agila Specialties Pte Ltd (a subsidiary of Strides Arcolab) to use TPM in a Liquid 

injectible anti-biotic. Agila will pay for all costs to commercialising product.

•  Formation of Joint venture company between Phosphagenics and ENA, called Equine Ergogenics 

to market animal health products globally. Approval received from the Singapore Turf Club for use 

by the trainers and owners of racehorses in Singapore. First sales achieved in 2012. 
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Looking Forward

Year 2013 will be a year of moving the opioid patch program forward with both the oxycodone and 

oxymorphone patches undertaking clinical trials earlier in the year. After trial data is assessed, these results 

together with clinical design information will be included in an IND to be submitted to the FDA.

After approval is received phase 3 trials will be ready to start. The opioid patch program will be conducted 

after consultation with both our regulatory experts and the FDA.

Whilst the opioid patch program remains our focus, there will be a growing number of revenue streams, 

in the areas of personal care, OTC pain products, and animal health.

There will be other areas where R&D required to commercialise products will be continued. These include 

in the area of dermal and acne products, Liquid anti-biotics through Agila and animal health through 

Mastitis Australia.

In the area of personal care we will generate new revenue sources through agreements with GNC, 

Intas and Themis.

All of these revenue streams involve royalty or similar arrangements that will be received by us at minimal 

cost to the company. We also are expecting after some internal restructuring that Elixia revenues will 

improve whilst the advertising spend and cost basis associated with that revenue will go down.

Phosphagenics fi nancial position will also be boosted by the receipt of the 2011-12 and 2012-13 tax year R&D 

rebates. Both these amounts should be received by us in 2013 and we estimate will be around $7.5 million.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity 

in future fi nancial years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable 

prejudice to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Company is registered with relevant authorities to use certain compounds in the manufacture 

of goods. All waste chemicals are disposed of using accredited service providers with notifi cation 

to thexrelevant authorities.

There have been no signifi cant known breaches of any environmental regulations to which the company 

is subject.

DIVIDENDS
The Directors have not recommended the payment of any dividends and no dividends were declared, 

paid or reinvested in the year to 31 December 2012.

Directors’ Report continued

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

PPG021_2012 Annual Report_SECTION B-2.indd   33 4/04/13   12:28 PM



34

PHOSPHAGENICS ANNUAL REPORT 2012

SHARE OPTIONS
Share options convertible to ordinary shares on issue at the date of this report.

Issuing entity
Australian stock 
exchange listed

Shares under 
option No.

Class of 
shares

Exercise 
price $

Expiry date

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 5,000,000 Ordinary $0.14 31 Mar 2013

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,450,000 Ordinary $0.15 17 Aug 2013

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,000,000 Ordinary $0.15 12 May 2014

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,950,000 Ordinary $0.15 17 June 2014

Total 9,400,000

The holders of share options do not have voting rights or ability to participate in any share or rights issue. 

Since the end of the fi nancial year no options have been issued or exercised.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The amounts contained in this report and in the fi nancial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 

(where rounding is applicable and where noted ($’000)), under the option available to the company under 

ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
During the fi nancial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring its Directors and 

Offi cers against a liability, other than a wilful breach of duty, of a nature that is required to be disclosed 

under section 300(8) of the Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with section 300(9) of the Corporations 

Act 2001, further details have not been disclosed due to confi dentiality provisions contained in the 

insurance contract.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year 

and the number of meetings attended by each director was as follows:

Directors Board of Directors Audit, Compliance and Corporate 
Governance committee

Held Attended Held Attended

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L 8 8 5 5

Clarke, D 8 8 5 5

James, S1 8 7 5 4

Webb, S 8 8 5 5

Executive directors

Rosen, H 8 8 - -

Ogru, E1 8 7 - -

1 Mr S. James and Dr E. Ogru were granted a leave of absence whilst overseas.

(i) During the year allotments of shares were carried out by resolutions of the Board of Directors

(ii)  The Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee has also been mandated by the Board of Directors to carry out the 

functions of a Remuneration Committee
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Committee Membership

For all committees, any two Directors constitutes a quorum. All Directors are eligible to sit on the 

share allotment committee. The Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance committee comprises 

of Independent Directors; D Clarke (chairman), J L Addison, S James and S Webb. Mr Clarke was 

appointed chairman in August 2010 and continues to remain in this role.

Directors Shareholdings

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Phosphagenics 

Limited were:

Directors Number of ordinary 
shares

Number of rights over 
ordinary shares

Number of options over 
ordinary shares

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L 22,473 750,000 -

Clarke, D 35,484 350,000 -

James, S - 350,000 2,400,000

Webb, S 111,000 350,000 -

Executive directors

Rosen, H 64,226,436 2,000,000 -

Ogru, E 5,711,610 2,000,000 -

Total 70,107,003 5,800,000 2,400,000

The number of rights held by directors, as shown above, are those Performance Rights as approved 

by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) per the terms of the Employee Conditional 

Rights Scheme as established by shareholders at the AGM – refer notes below on Remuneration Report 

for details of the terms and milestones.

The number of existing non-quoted options over unissued ordinary shares as acquired by Mr James 

by way of an off-market transaction on 30 June 2011, at a cost of $0.035 each, have an exercise price 

of $0.142 each and expire on 31 March 2013.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2012 outlines the remuneration arrangements 

of the Company and the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 

(the Act) and its regulations. This information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.

For the purposes of this report, key management personnel (KMP) of the Group are defi ned as those 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities 

of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive 

or otherwise) of the parent company.

Details of Key Management Personnel Position

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L Chairman and Independent Director

Clarke, D Independent Director

James, S Independent Director

Webb, S Independent Director

Executive directors

Rosen, H President

Ogru, E Chief Executive Offi cer

Other Key management personnel

Alsop, H Vice President – Operations & Business Development, 

(commenced 1 March 2012)

Gavin, P Chief Scientifi c Offi cer

Arnott, A Chief Financial Offi cer

Butala, D Vice President – Bioanalytical & CMC

El-Tamimy, M Vice President – Innovation & Development

Rosen, J General Counsel

Kyriakou, K General Manager – Personal Care, (resigned 7 August 2012)

Moses, G General Manager – Personal Care, 

(commenced 19 November 2012)

On 22 January 2013, Ms Anna Legg was appointed Chief Financial Offi cer of Phosphagenics Limited, 

replacing Mr Ashley Arnott. Other than the appointment of Ms Legg, there were no other changes 

to KMP after the reporting date and before the date the fi nancial report was authorised for issue.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee, part of the Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance committee, 

is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for the directors and executives. 

The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration 

of executives on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall 

objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefi t from the retention of a high quality, high performing 

director and executive team.

Remuneration Principles and Strategies

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its directors and executives. The broad 

remuneration philosophy is to ensure a remuneration package properly refl ects the person’s duties 

and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people 

of the highest quality.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director 

and executive remuneration is separate and distinct.

Directors’ Report continued

PPG021_2012 Annual Report_SECTION B-2.indd   36 4/04/13   12:28 PM



37

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)

Non executive director remuneration

Objective

The board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to 

attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The constitution and the ASX listing rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall 

be determined from time to time by a general meeting. The latest determination was at the annual general meeting 

held on 29 January 2004 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $300,000 per year.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed 

periodically. The board considers advice from external consultants as well as the fees paid to non-executive 

directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. A review was conducted in 

February 2012 resulting in a 10.5% increase to remuneration of non-executive directors, effective 1 March 2012.

From 1 March 2012 each non-executive director receives a base fee of $42,000 (previously $38,000) 

for being a director of the Group. The non-executive directors do not receive retirement benefi ts, nor do 

they participate in any short term incentive programs. The remuneration of non-executive directors for 

the period ending 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 is detailed in the tables within this report.

Executive remuneration

Objective

The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their 

position and responsibilities so as to align the interests of executives with those of shareholders to retain 

executives at the Company to ensure that total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

Structure

In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the board engages external consultants 

as needed to provide independent advice. The process consists of a review of company and individual 

performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internally, and where appropriate, 

external advice on policies and practices.

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

• Fixed remuneration (base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefi ts)

•   Variable remuneration long term incentive (rights issued under the Employee Conditional Rights 

Scheme (ECRS) and previously under the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP))

Executive directors’ remuneration was reviewed in December 2011 resulting in a 23% increase for Dr Esra 

Ogru commencing in January 2012, with no change to Mr Harry Rosen’s remuneration. Additionally, 

in June 2012, the Remuneration Committee approved and paid a short term discretionary cash bonus 

to Dr Esra Ogru. Remuneration of other non director executives and key management personnel were 

reviewed in December 2011, resulting in an average increase of 10/% effective 1 January 2012.

Fixed remuneration

Objective

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the board of directors. The process consists of a review 

of company and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration externally and internally and, 

where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. As noted above, the committee has access 

to external advice independent of management.

Structure

Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fi xed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms 

including cash and fringe benefi ts such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner of payment 

chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group. Apart from termination 

benefi ts which accrue under statute such as unpaid annual leave, long service leave and superannuation 

benefi ts, there are no post employment retirement benefi ts.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)

Variable remuneration long term incentive plan

Objective

The objective of the long term incentive plan is to reward staff in a manner that aligns remuneration 

with the creation of shareholder wealth and to ensure that all staff, including executives, views their 

relationship with the Group as a long-term one. As such the long term incentive plan has been offered 

to all staff who meet the minimum service criteria.

Structure

Employee Share Option Plan

The long term incentive plan grants to executives are delivered in the form of share options under 

the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP). The share options will vest over differing periods depending 

on the offer conditions, with no opportunity to retest. Executives are able to exercise the share options 

after vesting and before the options lapse.

Where a participant ceases employment prior to the vesting of their share options, the share options 

are forfeited unless cessation of employment is due to retirement or death. In the event of a change 

of control of the Group, the performance period end date will be brought forward to the date of the 

change of control and awards will vest over this shortened period.

Employee Conditional Rights Scheme

The ECRS allows eligible employees to be granted Performance Rights to acquire Shares at no cost. 

The purpose of the Scheme, and the performance conditions within, is to provide a long term incentive 

to staff as part of a focus to more closely link overall remuneration to the achievement of performance 

benchmarks, to encourage direct involvement and interest in the performance of the Company 

and to enable the acquisition of a long term equity interest in the Company by its staff. All employees, 

including executive and non-executive Directors, and any individual whom the Board determines 

to be an eligible participant for the purposes of the Scheme, are eligible to participate in the Scheme.

The Scheme will be administered by the Board, with all objectives, determinations, approvals or opinions 

made or given by the Board in its absolute discretion.

Under the terms of the ECRS, the rights will vest if certain non-market or market conditions are fulfi lled. 

One of the key overriding conditions of the Scheme is that if the 10 day Volume Weighted Average Price 

is not less than $0.35 at any time prior to 31 December 2014, then 100% of the Performance Rights will 

vest. Alternatively, vesting of the Rights is conditional on Phosphagenics achieving the following conditions:

Milestone 1 (16.5% of Rights awarded if achieved by 30 Jun 2012) - Completion of recruitment for the 

clinical trial of the Oxycodone patch, Submission of an IND for the Oxycodone patch, and gross revenues 

from global sales of all non-prescription products of the Company of not less than $10 million. Rights 

relating to Milestone 1 remain unvested as this milestone was no achieved.

Milestone 2 (16.5% of Rights awarded if any two of the following achieved by 31 Dec 2013) - Completion 

of the clinical trial of the oxycodone patch on time and on budget and the Board determines to continue 

the development and commercialisation of the patch, gross revenues from the commercialisation of 

the Company’s TPM technology for use in or in connection with dermatology products of not less than 

$1million, and gross revenues from global sales of all non-prescription products of the Company of not 

less than $20million.

Milestone 3 (34% of Rights awarded if any two of the following achieved by 31 Dec 2014) - Completion 

of all pivotal human clinical trials of the oxycodone patch, gross revenues from the commercialisation 

of the Company’s TPM technology for use in or in connection with the dermatology products of not less 

than $2million, and gross revenues from global sales of all non-prescription products of the Company 

of not less than $30million. 

Milestone 4 (34% of Rights awarded if either of the following achieved by 31 Dec 2015) - NDA 

(or equivalent) registration of the oxycodone patch or commercial agreement for the marketing and sale 

of the oxycodone patch, or gross revenues from global sales of all non-prescription products of the 

Company of not less than A$40million.
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The Group’s current remuneration policies provide a signifi cant degree of linkage between an executive’s 

variable long term incentive remuneration and the overall fi nancial performance of the Group. Given the 

position of the Group and its stage of development, the remuneration is aimed at retaining key individuals 

to ensure the success of current and future product development and successful commercialisation 

of products, which will in turn impact future profi tability of the Group and shareholder wealth.

Employment contracts

No executives have fi xed term contracts with the Group. The company or the executive may terminate 

employment by providing four weeks written notice. On termination, any long term incentive plan 

(ESOP) options or (ECRS) rights that have vested are available to be exercised. Any options or rights 

that have not yet vested will be forfeited.

The company may terminate employment at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 

occurred. Where termination with cause occurs the executive is only entitled to that portion 

of remuneration that is fi xed, and only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause, 

any unvested options or rights will immediately be forfeited.

Company performance and its link to long-term incentives

The fi nancial performance measures driving long-term incentive vesting and payment outcomes are 

revenues from the sale of goods and Company share price. Because of the stage of the Company’s 

development, earnings per share and other profi tability based measures do not accurately refl ect 

performance over the past fi ve years.

The following chart shows Phosphagenics Limited’s annual revenues from the sale of goods and year 

end share price over the fi ve-year period from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012.

Options granted during the year to key management personnel

No options were awarded during the year to key management personnel and no options vested during the year.

Performance Rights granted during the year to key management personnel

1,450,000 ECRS Rights were awarded to key management personnel during the year, of which nil vested.

Remuneration of key management personnel

Aggregates 2012

$

2011

$

Short-Term Benefi ts 1,645,236 1,568,076

Post-Employment 135,780 115,125

Share Based Payment 238,440 95,119

Termination 15,508 275,742

Totals 2,034,964 2,054,062
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Remuneration of key management personnel (continued)

Short – Term Post-Employment

2012

Salary &
Fees

$

Cash
Bonus

$
Superannuation

$

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L 51,682 - 4,651

Clarke, D 37,873 - 3,409

James, S 38,740 - 2,542

Webb, S 37,873 - 3,409

Executive directors

Rosen, H 276,856 - 24,917

Ogru, E 275,230 - 24,771

Other Key management personnel

Alsop, H* 191,667 - 17,250

Gavin, P 151,376 - 13,624

Arnott, A** 69,840 - -

Butala, D 143,758 - 12,938

El-Tamimy, M**** 126,409 - 11,377

Rosen, J**** 128,964 - 4,879

Kyriakou, K*** 97,853 - 10,203

Moses, G**** 17,115 - 1,540

Totals 1,645,236 - 135,780
* H Alsop commenced on 1 March 2012.

**  A Arnott is employed under contract, with no fi xed period. Either party may terminate the agreement at any time by giving the other party 

14 days notice in writing. Effective 22 Jan 2013 Ms Anna Legg replaced Mr Arnott as Chief Financial Offi cer, with Mr Arnott’s contract 

terminating effective 22 Feb 2013.

*** K Kyriakou resigned on 7 August 2012.

****  G Moses commenced on 19 November 2012. M El-Tamimy and J Rosen became Key Management Personnel effective 1 Jan 2012
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Share Based 
Payment

Termination 
Benefi ts Total

Performance 
Related

Performance
Rights

$ $ $ %

14,318 - 70,651 20.3%

6,682 - 47,964 13.9%

6,682 - 47,964 13.9%

6,682 - 47,964 13.9%

38,182 - 339,955 11.2%

38,182 - 338,183 11.3%

28,636 - 237,823 12.0%

21,538 - 186,538 11.5%

4,308 - 74,148 5.8%

21,538 - 178,234 12.1%

21,538 - 159,324 13.5%

30,154 - 163,997 18.4%

- 15,508 123,564 -

- - 18,655 -

238,440 15,508 2,034,964
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Remuneration of key management personnel (continued)

Short – Term Post-Employment

2011

Salary &
Fees

$

Cash
Bonus

$
Superannuation

$

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L 34,862 - 3,138

Clarke, D 34,580 - 3,112

James, S 34,580 - 3,112

Webb, S 34,580 - 3,112

Executive directors

Rosen, H 271,765 - 24,459

Ogru, E* 222,703 50,000 20,043

Other Key management personnel

Banti, F** 146,383 - -

Gavin, P 135,433 - 12,189

Arnott, A*** 92,520 - -

Butala, D 140,254 - 12,623

Harrison, K**** 117,783 - 10,600

Kyriakou, K 123,960 - 11,156

Libinaki, R**** 128,673 - 11,581

Totals 1,518,076 50,000 115,125
* E Ogru was paid a once off cash bonus in June 2011 in recognition of outstanding performance during the previous 12 month period.

**  F Banti resigned on 29 July 2011

***  A Arnott is employed under contract, with no fi xed period. Either party may terminate the agreement at any time by giving the other party 

14 days notice in writing.

****  Due to organisational developments, effective 1 Jan 2012, R Libinaki and K Harrison are no longer considered Key Management 

Personnel
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Share Based 
Payment

Termination 
Benefi ts Total

Performance 
Related

Performance
Rights

$ $ $ %

9,575 - 47,575 20.1%

4,455 - 42,147 10.6%

4,455 - 42,147 10.6%

4,455 - 42,147 10.6%

25,455 - 321,679 7.9%

25,455 - 318,201 23.7%

- 275,742 422,125 -

5,385 - 153,007 3.5%

1,077 - 93,597 1.2%

5,385 - 158,262 3.4%

2,692 - 131,075 2.1%

4,038 139,154 2.9%

2,692 - 142,946 1.9%

95,119 275,742 2,054,062

Directors’ Report continued

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

PPG021_2012 Annual Report_SECTION B-2.indd   43 4/04/13   12:28 PM



44

PHOSPHAGENICS ANNUAL REPORT 2012

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)

Option holdings of key management personnel

2012
01 Jan 12

Balance No. Award Date
Fair value per option

at award Date

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L - - -

Clarke, D - - -

James, S 2,400,000 - -

Webb,S - - -

Executive Directors

Rosen, H - - -

Ogru, E - - -

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - - -

Gavin, P 100,000 18-Aug-08 $0.053

300,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

Arnott, A - - -

Butala, D 250,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

El-Tamimy, M 250,000 18-Aug-08 $0.053

200,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

Rosen, J - - -

Kyriakou, K1 - - -

Moses, G - - -

Totals 3,500,000 - -
1 K Kyriakou is no longer a key management personnel due to her resignation on 7 August 2012.
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Exercise Price Expiry Date
Net other

change No.
31 Dec 12

Balance No. Vested No.

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - 2,400,000 2,400,000

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

0.15 17-Aug-13 - 100,000 100,000

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 300,000 300,000

- - - - -

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 250,000 250,000

0.15 17-Aug-13 - 250,000 250,000

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 200,000 200,000

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - 3,500,000 3,500,000
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Directors’ Report continued

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)

2011 01 Jan 11
Balance No.

Award Date Fair value per option
at award Date

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L - - -

Clarke, D - - -

James, S - - -

Webb, S - - -

Executive Directors

Rosen, H - - -

Ogru, E - - -

Key Management Personnel

Banti, F1 2,650,000 1-Jul-08 $0.096

Gavin, P 400,000 22-May-06 $0.091

 100,000 18-Aug-08 $0.053

300,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

Arnott, A - - -

Butala, D 250,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

Harrison, K - - -

Kyriakou, K - - -

Libinaki, R 400,000 22-May-06 $0.091

100,000 18-Aug-08 $0.053

150,000 18-Jun-09 $0.095

Totals 4,350,000 - -
1  F Banti is no longer a key management personnel due to his resignation on 29 July 2011, although his options remain exercisable. 

All options granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option 

Plan (ESOP).
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Exercise Price Expiry Date Net other
change No.

31 Dec 11
Balance No.

Vested No.

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

0.13 30-Jun-18 (2,650,000) - -

0.23 22-May-11 (400,000) - -

0.15 17-Aug-13 - 100,000 100,000

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 300,000 300,000

- - - - -

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 250,000 250,000

- - - - -

- - - - -

0.23 22-May-11 (400,000) - -

0.15 17-Aug-13 - 100,000 100,000

0.15 17-Jun-14 - 150,000 150,000

- - (1,050,000) 3,300,000 3,300,000
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)

Performance Rights holdings of key management personnel

2012

01 Jan 12 
Balance 

No.
Award 

date

Performance 
Rights awarded 

during the year No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 750,000 1-May 2011 -

Clarke, D 350,000 1-May 2011 -

James, S 350,000 1-May 2011 -

Webb, S 350,000 1-May 2011 -

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 2,000,000 1-May 2011 -

Ogru, E 2,000,000 1-May 2011 -

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - 21-Mar-2012 750,000

Gavin, P 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 -

Arnott, A 200,000 3-Oct-2011 -

Butala, D 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 -

El-Tamimy, M 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 -

Rosen, J - 21-Mar-2012 700,000

Kyriakou, K 750,000 3-Oct-2011 (750,000)

Moses, G - - -

Totals 9,750,000 700,000 -

2011

01 Jan 11
Balance

No.
Award 

date

Performance 
Rights awarded 

during the year No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L - 1-May 2011 750,000

Clarke, D - 1-May 2011 350,000

James, S - 1-May 2011 350,000

Webb, S - 1-May 2011 350,000

Executive Directors

Rosen, H - 1-May 2011 2,000,000

Ogru, E - 1-May 2011 2,000,000

Key Management Personnel

Banti, F - - -

Gavin, P - 3-Oct-2011 1,000,000

Arnott, A - 3-Oct-2011 200,000

Butala, D - 3-Oct-2011 1,000,000

Harrison, K - 3-Oct-2011 500,000

Kyriakou, K - 3-Oct-2011 750,000

Libinaki, R - 3-Oct-2011 500,000

Totals - 9,750,000 -

Directors’ Report continued
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Fair value per 
performance right 

at award date

31 Dec 12
Balance

No.
Not Vested

No.

% of Remuneration 
consisting of 

Performance rights

$0.07 750,000 750,000 20.3%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

$0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 11.2%

$0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 11.3%

$0.14 750,000 750,000 12.0%

$0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 11.5%

$0.07 200,000 200,000 5.8%

$0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 12.1%

$0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 13.5%

$0.14 700,000 700,000 18.4%

$0.07 - - -

- - - -

10,450,000 10,450,000

Fair value per 
performance right 

at award date

31 Dec 11
Balance

No.
Not Vested

No.

% of Remuneration 
consisting of 

Performance rights

$0.07 750,000 750,000 20.1%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 10.6%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 10.6%

$0.07 350,000 350,000 10.6%

$0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 7.9%

$0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 8.0%

- - - -

$0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 3.5%

$0.07 200,000 200,000 1.2%

$0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 3.4%

$0.07 500,000 500,000 2.1%

$0.07 750,000 750,000 2.9%

$0.07 500,000 500,000 1.9%

9,750,000 9,750,000
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)
Performance Rights holdings of key management personnel (continued)

All performance rights granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance with 

the provisions of the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS).

No performance rights have lapsed during the year.

No performance rights vested or were exercised during the year.

No performance rights were issued prior to 1 January 2011.

1,150,000 performance rights were cancelled during the year.

All performance rights expire on 30 June 2016.

Directors’ Report continued
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED)
Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

2012

01 Jan 12 
Balance

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No.

Net other 
change

No.

31 Dec 12 
Balance

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 22,473 - - 22,473

Clarke, D 35,484 - - 35,484

James, S - - - -

Webb, S 111,000 - - 111,000

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 64,226,436 - - 64,226,436

Ogru, E 5,711,610 - - 5,711,610

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - - - -

Gavin, P 99,000 - - 99,000

Arnott, A - - - -

Butala, D - - - -

El-Tamimy, M - - - -

Rosen, J 2,000,068 - - 2,000,068

Kyriakou, K - - - -

Moses, G - - - -

Totals 72,206,071 - - 72,206,071

2011

01 Jan 11 
Balance

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No.

Net other 
change

No.

31 Dec 11 
Balance

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 19,000 - 3,473 22,473

Clarke, D 30,000 - 5,484 35,484

James, S - - - -

Webb, S 110,000 - 1,000 111,000

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 64,226,436 - - 64,226,436

Ogru, E 5,711,610 - - 5,711,610

Key Management Personnel

Banti, F - - - -

Gavin, P 99,000 - - 99,000

Arnott, A - - - -

Butala, D - - - -

Harrison, K - - - -

Kyriakou, K - - - -

Libinaki, R 344,451 - - 344,451

Totals 70,540,497 - 9,957 70,550,454
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Directors are satisfi ed that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor 

(or by another person or fi rm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard 

of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. Details of amounts paid or payable 

to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined in note 6 to the 

fi nancial statements.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 20 of the fi nancial report.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
During the fi nancial year there was no signifi cant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 

other than that referred to in the fi nancial statements or notes thereto.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the fi nancial statements 

or notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly affected, or may 

signifi cantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state 

of affairs of the consolidated entity in future fi nancial years.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations 

Act 2001.

Jonathan Lancelot Addison
Chairman

19 February 2013

Melbourne

Directors’ Report continued
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Corporate Governance Statement

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND CONDUCT
The board of directors of Phosphagenics Limited is responsible for establishing the corporate governance 

framework of the Group having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council (CGC) published 

guidelines as well as its corporate governance principles and recommendations. The board guides and 

monitors the business and affairs of Phosphagenics Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they 

are elected and to whom they are accountable.

The table below summarises the Company’s compliance with the CGS’s recommendations.

Principle Recommendation
Comply 
Yes/No

Reference/
explanation

ASX Listing Rule/
Recommendation

1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved 

to the board and those delegated to senior 

executives and disclose those functions.

Yes Page 57 ASX LR 1.1

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for 

evaluating the performance of senior executives.

Yes Page 58 ASX LR 1.2

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated 

in the guide to reporting on Principle 1.

Yes ASX LR 1.3

2 Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. Yes Page 57 ASX LR 2.1

2.2 The chair should be an independent director. Yes Page 57 ASX LR 2.2

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive offi cer should 

not be exercised by the same individual.

Yes Page 57 ASX LR 2.3

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. No Page 57 ASX LR 2.4

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for 

evaluating the performance of the board, its 

committees and individual directors.

Yes Page 58 ASX LR 2.5

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated 

in the guide to reporting on Principle 2.

Yes ASX LR 2.6

3 Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and 

disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

•   The practices necessary to maintain confi dence in 

the company’s integrity.

•   The practices necessary to take into account their 

legal obligations and the reasonable expectations 

of their stakeholders.

•   The responsibility and accountability of individuals 

for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 

practices.

Yes Website ASX CGC 3.1

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning 

diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of that 

policy. The policy should include requirements for the 

board to establish measurable objectives for achieving 

gender diversity for the board to assess annually both 

the objectives and progress in achieving them.

Yes Website ASX CGC 3.2

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the 

measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity 

set by the board in accordance with the diversity 

policy and progress towards achieving them.

Yes Page 63 ASX CGC 3.3
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3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report 

the proportion of women employees in the whole 

organisation, women in senior executives positions 

and women on the board.

Yes Page 63 ASX CGC 3.4

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated 

in the guide to reporting on Principle 3

Yes ASX LR 3.5

4 Safeguard integrity in fi nancial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. Yes Page 58 ASX LR 4.1

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:

-   Consists only of non-executive directors

-   Has at least three members

-   Consists of a majority of independent directors

-   Is chaired by an independent chair, who is not 

chair of the board

Yes Page 58 ASX LR 4.2 

ASX LR 12.7

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes Page 58 ASX LR 4.3

4.4 Companies should provide the information 

indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4.

Yes ASX LR 4.4

5 Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish written policies 

designed to ensure compliance with ASX listing 

rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 

accountability at a senior executive level for that 

compliance and disclose those policies or a 

summary of those policies.

Yes Page 62 ASX LR 5.1

5.2 Companies should provide the information 

indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 5.

Yes ASX LR 5.2

6 Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a communications 

policy for promoting effective communication with 

shareholders and encouraging their participation 

at general meetings and disclose their policy or a 

summary of that policy.

Yes Page 62 ASX LR 6.1

6.2 Companies should provide the information 

indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 6.

Yes ASX LR 6.2

7 Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the 

oversight and management of material business 

risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Yes Page 60 ASX LR 7.1

7.2 The board should require management to design 

and implement the risk management and internal 

control system to manage the company’s material 

business risks and report to it on whether those 

risks are being managed effectively. The board 

should disclose that management has reported 

to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s 

management of its material business risks.

Yes Page 60 ASX LR 7.2

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has 

received assurance from the chief executive 

offi cer [or equivalent] and the chief fi nancial offi cer 

[or equivalent] that the declaration provided in 

accordance with section 295A of the Corporations 

Act 2001 is founded on a sound system of risk 

management and internal control and that the 

system is operating effectively in all material 

respects in relation to fi nancial reporting risks.

Yes Page 61 ASX LR 7.3

7.4 Companies should provide the information 

indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 7.

Yes ASX LR 7.4

8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration 

committee.

Yes Page 36 ASX LR 8.1

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured 

so that it consists of a majority of independent 

directors, is chaired by an independent chair, and 

has at least three members.

Yes Page 36,60

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure 

of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that 

of executive directors and senior executives.

Yes Page 36, 

59

ASX LR 8.2

8.4 Companies should provide the information 

indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8.

Yes ASX LR 8.3
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The Companies corporate governance practices were in place throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.

Board functions

The board seeks to identify the expectations of the shareholders, as well as other regulatory and ethical 

expectations and obligations. In addition, the board is responsible for identifying areas of signifi cant 

business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks. To ensure 

that the board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities it has established guidelines for the 

nomination and selection of directors and for the operation of the board. The responsibility for the 

operation and administration of the Group is delegated, by the board, to the Chief Executive Offi cer 

and the executive management team. The board ensures that this team is appropriately qualifi ed and 

experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in place procedures to assess the performance 

of the Chief Executive Offi cer and the executive management team. Whilst at all times the board retains 

full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the Group, in discharging its stewardship it makes use of sub-

committees. Specialist committees are able to focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed 

feedback to the board. To this end the board has established Share Allotment and Audit, Compliance 

and Corporate Governance Committees.

The Directors in offi ce at the date of this statement, their skills, experience, expertise and period 

of directorship are detailed in the Directors’ Report. In respect of the attendance at Board and Committee 

Meetings, shareholders are referred to the table of Meeting Attendance contained on page 7.

Structure of the Board

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in offi ce 

at the date of the annual report are included in the directors’ report. Directors of Phosphagenics Limited 

are considered to be independent when they are independent of management and free from any business 

or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially 

interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.

In the context of director independence, “materiality” is considered from both the Group and individual 

director perspective. The determination of materiality requires consideration of both quantitative 

and qualitative elements. An item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial if it is equal to or less than 

5% of the appropriate base amount. It is presumed to be material (unless there is qualitative evidence 

to the contrary) if it is equal to or greater than 10% of the appropriate base amount. Qualitative factors 

considered include whether a relationship is strategically important, the competitive landscape, the nature 

of the relationship and the contractual or other arrangements governing it and other factors that point 

to the actual ability of the director in question to shape the direction of the Group’s loyalty.

In accordance with the defi nition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following 

directors of Phosphagenics Limited are considered to have the following status:

Name Position and status Term in Offi ce

Non-executive directors

Addison, J L Chairman and Independent Director 10 years

Clarke, D Independent Director 2.5 years

James, S Independent Director 2.5 years

Webb, S Independent Director 2.5 years

Executive directors

Rosen, H President 13 years

Ogru, E Chief Executive Offi cer 7 years

The board recognises the Corporate Governance Council’s recommendation that the Chair should be an 

independent director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Composition of the Board

The Company’s Constitution provides for the appointment of a minimum of three Directors and up to 

a maximum of eight. At the date of this report, the Company has six Directors comprising two Executive 

and four Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Board’s 

Committees’ are Non-Executive Directors.

In February 2012 the Board of Directors undertook a review of the status of each Director and reached 

the opinion that each current Director, apart from Mr Rosen and Dr Ogru, could be classifi ed as a Non-

Executive Director. In addition, this assessment has concluded, Mr Addison, Mr Clarke, Mr James, and 

Ms Webb qualifi ed as Independent Directors. A further review was undertaken in February 2013 and the 

Board of Directors reached the opinion that status of each director has not changed since February 2012.

Board Responsibilities

The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company is delegated by the Board to the 

specifi cally identifi ed outsourced service providers. The Board ensures that this team of service providers 

is appropriately qualifi ed and experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in place procedures 

to assess their performance.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the 

expectations and risks identifi ed by the Board. The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to 

ensure this is achieved. In addition to the establishment of specifi c committees referred in this statement, 

these mechanisms include the following:

•  Implementation of operating plans and budgets by management and Board monitoring of progress 

against budget – this includes the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators 

(both fi nancial and non-fi nancial) for all signifi cant business processes;

•  Procedures to allow Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to seek independent professional 

advice at the company’s expense;

•  The review and approval of acquisitions and disposals of businesses and assets, and the approval 

of contracts and fi nancing arrangements within defi ned limits; and

•  The appointment of an outsourced service provider, which is responsible for managing the Company’s 

public image and communication with shareholders.

In conjunction with an ongoing review of the Board Charter, the Board will consider its responsibilities 

and delegated authorities to ensure they comply with best practice corporate governance.

Nomination and Membership

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s Constitution, Board composition and selection criteria 

for Directors are addressed by the full Board. Accordingly, a Nomination and Membership Committee 

has not been established.

The Constitution provides for events whereby Directors may be removed from the Board. Similarly, 

shareholders have the ability to nominate, appoint and remove Directors. The Constitution also provides 

for the regular rotation of Directors, which ensures that Directors seek re-election by shareholders at least 

once every three years.

Independent Professional Advice

Directors, in carrying out their duties as Directors or as members of Board Committees, may, after prior 

consultation with the Chairman, seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Company. 

If appropriate, such advice will be available to all Directors.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Timely and Balanced Disclosure

The Board of Directors has established written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance 

and at each meeting of the Board of Directors and specifi cally monitors the Company’s activities and 

disclosures. On average there are between six and ten Board meetings a year. The Board of Directors 

has endorsed the principles of best corporate governance practice as set out by the Council.

Performance

The performance of the board and key executives is reviewed periodically against both measurable 

and qualitative indicators. The performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed 

are aligned with the fi nancial and non-fi nancial objectives of Phosphagenics Limited.

Trading Policy

A Company Share Trading policy was adopted by the Board of Directors in May 2010 and amended 

by a resolution of directors in December 2010. Under the Company’s Share Trading Policy, an executive 

or director must not trade in any securities of the Company at any time when they are in possession of 

unpublished, price-sensitive information in relation to those securities; during a blackout period or outside 

the Executive Trading Windows period without the permission of the Approving Offi cer. The Directors are 

permitted to deal in securities in which they have a relevant interest without restriction for any period other 

than the last day in each half or full year reporting period until six weeks after the release to the ASX of 

the announcements by the Company of its full year or half year results and six weeks after the date of the 

Company’s annual general meeting. Directors are required to wait at least two business days after the 

release of any market sensitive announcement by the Company so that the market has had time to absorb 

the information.

As required by the ASX listing rules, the Company notifi es the ASX of any transaction conducted 

by directors in the securities of the Company.

Board of Directors and its Committees

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall governance of the Company inclusive of its strategic 

development and the direction and the control of operations of the Company. Whilst the Board retains 

overall responsibility, it has established certain committees to assist in carrying out its responsibilities. 

Such committees include the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee and the share 

allotment committee.

Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee

It is the board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity. 

This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and effi ciency of signifi cant business 

processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability 

of fi nancial information as well as non-fi nancial considerations such as the benchmarking of operational 

key performance indicators.

The board has delegated responsibility for establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control 

and ethical standards to the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee. The committee also 

provides the board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial information. A committee 

charter has been approved by the board.

The committee, as at the date of this statement, comprises four Non-Executive Independent Directors; 

Mr D Clarke (Chairman), Mr J Addison, Mr S James and Dr S Webb. The Company’s Auditors are invited 

to attend meetings and to participate in committee discussions. The Group CFO and Company Secretary 

attends committee meetings.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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The duties of the Committee include:

•  The review of the Audit Programme and all matters relevant to the fi nancial affairs of the Company’s 

activities together with the production of Statutory Financial Reports inclusive of the Reports and 

Declarations by Directors.

•  To review and advise on procedures in place to record the Company’s activities and to ensure 

the safety of the Company’s records and assets.

•  To review Internal Control Procedures and the Auditor’s Management letter.

•  To review the half-yearly and yearly reports to the ASX Limited together with a review of the scope 

and quality of the annual statutory audit and the half-year audit review.

•  To monitor Compliance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Securities 

and Investment Commission guidelines and practice notes, ASX Listing Rules, taxation requirements 

and all regulatory bodies.

•  Carry out the functions of the Remuneration Committee.

•  Group Risk management

Share Allotment Committee

Any two Directors will constitute a quorum for this committee, which deals with the allotment 

of new shares or grant or exercise of options.

Internal Control Framework and Ethical Standards

The Board of Directors seeks to identify the expectations of shareholders as well as other regulatory 

and ethical expectations and obligations.

These matters are undertaken by the full Board together with the audit, compliance and corporate 

governance committee. In respect of the ethical standards, the full Board regularly discusses the 

maintenance by the Company of appropriate ethical standards in line with the Council’s recommendations.

Risk

The board acknowledges the Revised Supplementary Guidance to Principle 7 issued by the ASX 

in June 2008 and has continued its proactive approach to risk management. The identifi cation and 

effective management of risk, including calculated risk-taking is viewed as an essential part of the 

company’s approach to creating long-term shareholder value.

In recognition of this, the Board determines the company’s risk profi le and is responsible for overseeing 

and approving risk management strategy. The audit, compliance and corporate governance committee 

reviews policies, internal compliance and internal control.

The audit, compliance and corporate governance committee oversees the assessment of the 

effectiveness of risk management and internal compliance and control. The tasks of undertaking and 

assessing risk management and internal control effectiveness are delegated to management through 

the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer, including responsibility for the day to day design 

and implementation of the company’s risk management and internal control system.

Management reports to the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee on the company’s 

key risks and the extent to which it believes these risks are being adequately managed. The reporting 

on risk by management is a standing agenda item at monthly Board meetings.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Business Risk

The main areas of business risk, which are considered on an ongoing basis by the Board are;

•  Failure to develop commercial products from the company’s research and development

•  Ability to raise capital or generate free cash fl ow to fund future research and development activities

•  Failure to market the company’s products

•  General economic factors including those affecting interest and exchange rates

•  Changes in Corporations and Taxation Law

CEO and CFO certifi cation

In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001, the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief 

Financial Offi cer have provided a written statement to the board that:

•  Their view provided on the Company’s fi nancial report is founded on a sound system of risk 

management and internal compliance and control which implements the fi nancial policies adopted 

by the board

•  The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively 

in all material respects

The board agrees with the views of the ASX on this matter and notes that due to its nature, internal control 

assurance from the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer can only be reasonable rather than 

absolute. This is due to such factors as the need for judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, 

the inherent limitations in internal control and because much of the evidence available is persuasive 

rather than conclusive and therefore is not and cannot be designed to detect all weaknesses in control 

procedures. In response to this, internal control questions are required to be completed by the key 

management personnel in support of these written statements.

Remuneration

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors 

themselves, the Chief Executive Offi cer and executive team. A Compensation (Remuneration) Committee 

has not been separately established, rather the function is performed by the Audit, Compliance and 

Corporate Governance Committee.

It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefi t from the retention of a high quality 

Board and executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with 

reference to relevant employment market conditions. For a full discussion of the Company’s remuneration 

philosophy and framework and the remuneration received by directors and executives in the current period 

please refer to the remuneration report, which is contained within the directors’ report.

Corporate Governance Statement continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Shareholder communication policy

Phosphagenics’ objective is to promote effective communication with its shareholders at all times. 

Phosphagenics Limited is committed to:

•  Ensuring that shareholders and the fi nancial markets are provided with full and timely information 

about Phosphagenics’ activities in a balanced and understandable way.

•  Complying with continuous disclosure obligations contained in applicable the ASX listing rules and the 

Corporations Act 2001 in Australia.

•  Communicating effectively with its shareholders and making it easier for shareholders to communicate 

with Phosphagenics Limited.

To promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general 

meetings, information is communicated to shareholders:

•  Through the release of information to the market via the ASX

•  Through the distribution of the annual report and Notices of Annual General Meeting

•  Through shareholder meetings and investor relations presentations

•  Through letters and other forms of communications directly to shareholders

•  By posting relevant information on Phosphagenics website www.phosphagenics.com.

The Company’s website www.phosphagenics.com has a dedicated Investor Relations section for 

the purpose of publishing all important company information and relevant announcements made 

to the market. The Company has also established an e-mail directory for the direct distribution of 

announcements made to the ASX.

The external auditors are required to attend the Annual General Meeting and are available to answer any 

shareholder questions about the conduction of the audit and preparation of the audit report.

Annual Reports are provided to all share and option holders who have elected to receive the Report.

At the meetings of shareholders, Directors are subject to questioning by shareholders about the Directors’ 

stewardship of the Company’s affairs and it is shareholders who ultimately vote upon the fi nancial statements 

and reports, the election of Directors, appointment of Auditors and any matters of Special Business.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Diversity

The Group recognises the value contributed to the organisation by employing people with varying skills, 

cultural backgrounds, ethnicity and experience. Phosphagenics believes its diverse workforce is the key 

to its continued growth, improved productivity and performance.

We actively value and embrace the diversity of our employees and are committed to creating an inclusive 

workplace where everyone is treated equally and fairly, and where discrimination, harassment and inequity 

are not tolerated. While Phosphagenics is committed to fostering diversity at all levels, gender diversity has 

been and continues to be a priority for the Group.

To this end, the Group supports and complies with the recommendations contained in the ASX Corporate 

Governance Principles and Recommendations. The Group has established a diversity policy outlining the 

board’s measurable objectives for achieving diversity. This is assessed annually to measure the progress 

towards achieving those objectives. The diversity policy is available in the corporate governance section 

on the Group’s website.

Broadly, the Groups measurable objectives are as follows:

•  Phosphagenics’ state and re-state where necessary that there are no forms of discrimination / 

bias in considering anyone for a position with the Group, i.e. on grounds of gender; age; physical 

appearance; origins; race; religion; marital status; sexual preference; pregnancy or likely pregnancy; 

political leanings; disabilities;

•  All new appointments or promotion / career enhancement and remuneration be on the basis of merit 

and ability to carry out the work responsibilities;

•  Within the broad ambit of ensuring that the Group’s activities are best developed and to ensure 

harmony of working within the group that there be fl exibility in working hours to enable domestic / 

private lives to allow for a balance between career and family obligations;

•  Consideration be given to job sharing

The table below outlines the diversity within Phosphagenics Limited.

Level Male Female Total

Number % Number %

Board 4 67% 2 33% 6

Key Management personnel 7 100% - - 7

Other staff 9 31% 20 69% 29

Total 20 48% 22 52% 42

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Jonathan Lancelot Addison
Chairman

19 February 2013

Melbourne

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2012 Note

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Revenue

Sale of goods 1,284 2,516

Licences 3a 246 228

Finance revenue 1,133 427

Total revenue 2,663 3,171

Cost of sales (733) (1,040)

Gross profi t 1,930 2,131

Income from government grants 3b 3,355 1,236

Other income 157 143

Employee and Directors benefi ts expenses (4,602) (4,003)

Occupancy and communications expenses (686) (511)

Consulting and professional expenses (1,026) (933)

Administration expenses (1,846) (1,997)

Research expenses (3,151) (4,924)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (4,687) (2,389)

Impairment of available-for-sale investment - (706)

Other expenses 3c (499) (771)

Loss before income tax (11,055) (12,724)

Income tax benefi t 4 - 13,830

Profi t / (loss) after income tax (11,055) 1,106

Other Comprehensive Income

Foreign currency translation 14 11 (2)

Income tax/(expense) on items of other 

comprehensive income

- -

Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax

14  11 (2)

Total comprehensive income for the period (11,044) 1,104

Profi t / (loss) per share from continuing 
operations attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the parent:

Basic profi t / (loss) per share 15 (1.08) cents 0.13 cents

Diluted profi t / (loss) per share 15 (1.08) cents 0.13 cents

The above Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 Note
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 20a 16,912 27,196

Trade and other receivables 7 4,993 2,376

Inventories 8 854 964

Other current assets 358 223

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 23,117 30,759

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant and equipment 9 1,034 1,161

Intangible assets 10 39,970 44,657

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 41,004 45,818

TOTAL ASSETS 64,121 76,577

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 11 1,101 3,358

Provisions 12 352 244

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,453 3,602

NON-CURRENT LIABILITES

Provisions 12 56 29

Deferred tax liability 4 - -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 56 29

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,509 3,631

NET ASSETS 62,612 72,946

EQUITY

Issued capital 13 209,861 209,546

Reserves 14 29,724 29,318

Accumulated losses (176,973) (165,918)

TOTAL EQUITY 62,612 72,946

The above Statement of fi nancial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Consolidated statement of fi nancial position

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2012 Note

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 1,956 2,439

Receipt of government grants 27 105

Payments to suppliers and employees (13,646) (11,837)

Net cash used in operating activities 20(b) (11,663) (9,293)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 1,248 216

Proceeds from available-for-sale investments - 971

Purchase of plant and equipment (184) (79)

Net cash from investing activities 1,064 1,108

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares 13 356 34,707

Costs of issue of shares (41) (2,066)

Net cash from fi nancing activities 315 32,641

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents (10,284) 24,456

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 

period 27,196 2,740

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF PERIOD 20(a) 16,912 27,196

The above Statement of cash fl ows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of cash fl ow
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Issued 
Capital 

$’000

Employee 
Benefi ts 
Reserve 

$’000

Other 
Benefi ts 
Reserve 

$’000

Business 
Combi-

nation & 
Foreign 

Currency 
Translation 

Reserve 
$’000

Accu-
mulated 
Losses

$’000
Total

$’000

Balance at 
1 January 2012 209,546 1,193 306 27,819 (165,918) 72,946

Profi t / (loss) for the 

period - - - - (11,055) (11,055)

Other comprehensive 

income - - - 11 - 11

Total comprehensive 

income for the period -  - - 11 (11,055) (11,044)

Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Issue of share capital 356 356

Transaction costs (41) (41)

Employee equity 

settlement benefi ts - 395 - - - 395

Share based 

payments -  - - - - -

Balance at 
31 December 2012 209,861 1,588 306 27,830 (176,973) 62,612

Balance at 
1 January 2011 176,905 1,057 248 27,821 (167,024) 39,007

Loss for the period - - - - 1,106 1,106

Other comprehensive 

income - - - (2) - (2)

Total comprehensive 

income for the period - - - (2) 1,106 1,104

Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Issue of share capital 34,707 34,707

Transaction costs (2,066) (2,066)

Employee equity 

settlement benefi ts - 136 - - - 136

Share based 

payments - - 58 - - 58

Balance at 
31 December 2011 209,546 1,193 306 27,819 (165,918) 72,946

The above Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated fi nancial statements of Phosphagenics Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012 

was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 19th February 2013.

Phosphagenics Limited (the parent) is a for profi t company limited by shares incorporated in Australia 

whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”).

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the directors’ report.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of Preparation of the fi nancial report

The fi nancial report is a general-purpose fi nancial report, which has been prepared in accordance with 

the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The fi nancial report has also been 

prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of Available-for-sale fi nancial assets which are 

carried at fair value.

The fi nancial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated.

(a) Compliance with IFRS

The fi nancial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous fi nancial year. The Group has not 

adopted any new or amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations during the year.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(ii) Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but 

are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 

31 December 2012, outlined in the table below:

Reference Title Summary

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards 

- Presentation of Other 

Comprehensive Income 

[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 

120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 

1039 & 1049]

This standard requires entities to group items 

presented in other comprehensive income on the basis 

of whether they might be reclassifi ed subsequently to 

profi t or loss and those that will not.

AASB10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that 

applies to all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

dealing with the accounting for consolidated fi nancial 

statements and UIG-112 Consolidation - Special 

Purpose Entities. The new control model broadens the 

situations when an entity is considered to be controlled 

by another entity and includes new guidance for 

applying the model to specifi c situations, including 

when acting as a manager may give control, the 

impact of potential voting rights and when holding 

less than a majority voting rights may give control. 

Consequential amendments were also made to other 

standards via AASB 2011-7.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint 

Ventures and UIG-113 Jointly-controlled Entities - 

Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 

uses the principle of control in AASB 10 to defi ne joint 

control, and therefore the determination of whether 

joint control exists may change. In addition it removes 

the option to account for jointly controlled entities 

(JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, 

accounting for a joint arrangement is dependent on 

the nature of the rights and obligations arising from the 

arrangement. Joint operations that give the venturers 

a right to the underlying assets and obligations 

themselves is accounted for by recognising the 

share of those assets and obligations. Joint ventures 

that give the venturers a right to the net assets is 

accounted for using the equity method. Consequential 

amendments were also made to other standards via 

AASB 2011-7 and amendments to AASB 128. 

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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Application 
date of standard Impact on Group fi nancial report

Application 
date for Group

1 July 2012 These amendments result in changes to disclosures in the 

fi nancial statements and will have no impact on the fi nancial 

performance or position of the Group.

1 Jan 2013

1 Jan 2013 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 Jan 2013

1 January 2013 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 January 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

Reference Title Summary

AASB12 Disclosure of Interests in 

Other Entities

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an 

entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 

associates and structures entities. New disclosures 

have been introduced about the judgments made by 

management to determine whether control exists, 

and to require summarised information about joint 

arrangements, associates and structured entities and 

subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

AASB13 Fair Value Measurement AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance 

for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. 

AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required 

to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how 

to determine fair value when fair value is required or 

permitted. Application of this defi nition may result in 

different fair values being determined for the relevant 

assets.

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements 

for all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This 

includes information about the assumptions made and 

the qualitative impact of those assumptions on the fair 

value determined.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 

standards via AASB 2011-8.

AASB 119 Employee Benefi ts The main change introduced by this standard is to 

revise the accounting for defi ned benefi t plans. The 

amendment removes the options for accounting for 

the liability, and requires that the liabilities arising from 

such plans is recognised in full with actuarial gains 

and losses being recognised in other comprehensive 

income. It also revised the method of calculating the 

return on plan assets. The revised standard changes 

the defi nition of short-term employee benefi ts. The 

distinction between short-term and other long-term 

employee benefi ts is now based on whether the 

benefi ts are expected to be settled wholly within 

12 months after the reporting date. Consequential 

amendments were also made to other standards via 

AASB 2011-10.
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Application 
date of standard Impact on Group fi nancial report

Application 
date for Group

1 January 2013 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 January 2013

1 January 2013 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 January 2013

1 January 2013 These amendments are unlikely to impact the Group as 

Phosphagenics do not currently have any defi ned benefi t 

plans in place; however the Group has not yet assessed the 

full impact.

1 January 2013

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

Reference Title Summary

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – 

Transition Guidance and 

Other Amendments

AASB 2012-10 amends the following standards:

•  AASB 10 Consolidation and related Standards - 

clarifi es the transition guidance, in particular that 

the assessment of control is to be made at the 

beginning of the period AASB 10 is adopted rather 

that prior periods. .

•  AASB 10 and related Standards to defer the 

mandatory application by not-for-profi t entities to 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2014. .

•  Various editorial amendments to a range 

of Australian Accounting Standards and 

to Interpretation 12 Service Concession 

Arrangements, to refl ect changes made to the text 

of IFRSs by the IASB

AASB1053 Application of Tiers of 

Australian Accounting 

Standards

This Standard establishes a differential fi nancial 

reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting 

requirements for preparing general purpose fi nancial 

statements:

(a)  Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards

(b)  Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards - 

Reduced Disclosure Requirements

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and 

presentation requirements of Tier 1 and substantially 

reduced disclosures corresponding to those 

requirements.

The following entities apply Tier 1 requirements in 

preparing general purpose fi nancial statements:

(a)  For-profi t entities in the private sector that have 

public accountability (as defi ned in this standard)

(b)  The Australian Government and State, Territory 

and Local governments

The following entities apply either Tier 2 or Tier 1 

requirements in preparing general purpose fi nancial 

statements:

(a)  For-profi t private sector entities that do not have 

public accountability

(b)  All not-for-profi t private sector entities

(c)  Public sector entities other than the Australian 

Government and State, Territory and Local 

governments. 

Consequential amendments to other standards to 

implement the regime were introduced by AASB 2010-

2, 2011-2, 2011-6, 2011-11, 2012-1 and 2012-7.
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Application 
date of standard Impact on Group fi nancial report

Application 
date for Group

1 January 2013 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 January 2013

1 July 2013 Phosphagenics Limited (the parent) is a company limited by 

shares and the shares are publicly traded on the Australia 

Stock Exchange therefore the Group has public accountability 

and will apply the Tier 1 requirements in preparing general 

purpose fi nancial statements.

1 January 2014

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

Reference Title Summary

AASB 9 Financial Instruments AASB 9 includes requirements for the classifi cation 

and measurement of fi nancial assets. It was further 

amended by AASB 2010-7 to refl ect amendments 

to the accounting for fi nancial liabilities. These 

requirements improve and simplify the approach for 

classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial assets 

compared with the requirements of AASB 139. The 

main changes are described below.

(a)  Financial assets that are debt instruments will be 

classifi ed based on (1) the objective of the entity’s 

business model for managing the fi nancial assets; 

(2) the characteristics of the contractual cash fl ows.

(b)  Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to 

present gains and losses on investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading in other 

comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these 

investments that are a return on investment can be 

recognised in profi t or loss and there is no impairment 

or recycling on disposal of the instrument.

(c)  Financial assets can be designated and measured 

at fair value through profi t or loss at initial 

recognition if doing so eliminates or signifi cantly 

reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency that would arise from measuring 

assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains and 

losses on them, on different bases.

(d)  Where the fair value option is used for fi nancial 

liabilities the change in fair value is to be 

accounted for as follows:

 •  The change attributable to changes in credit 

risk are presented in other comprehensive 

income (OCI)

 •  The remaining change is presented in profi t or loss 

If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting 

mismatch in the profi t or loss, the effect of the changes 

in credit risk are also presented in profi t or loss.

Further amendments were made by AASB 2012-6 which 

amends the mandatory effective date to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. AASB 

2012-6 also modifi es the relief from restating prior periods 

by amending AASB 7 to require additional disclosures on 

transition to AASB 9 in some circumstances.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 

standards as a result of AASB 9, introduced by AASB 

2009-11 and superseded by AASB 2010-7 and 2010-10.
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Application 
date of standard Impact on Group fi nancial report

Application 
date for Group

1 Jan 2015 These amendments may have an impact on the Group; 

however the Group has not yet assessed the impact.

1 Jan 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the fi nancial statements of Phosphagenics Limited 

and its subsidiaries as at and for the period ended 31 December each year (‘the Group’).

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and 

operating policies so as to obtain benefi ts from their activities. The existence and effect of potential 

voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether a group 

controls another entity.

The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 

company, using consistent accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income 

and expenses and profi t and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Investments in subsidiaries held by Phosphagenics Limited are accounted for at cost in the separate 

fi nancial statements of the parent entity less any impairment charges.

(d) Operating Segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other 

components of the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief 

operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 

its performance and for which discrete fi nancial information is available. Management will also consider 

other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level 

of segment information presented to the board of directors.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported separately. 

However, an operating segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reporting separately 

where information about the segment would be useful to users of the fi nancial statements.

Information about other business activities and operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria 

are combined and disclosed in a separate category for “all other segments”.

(e) Signifi cant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and 

assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual 

reporting period are: 

Impairment of intangibles with indefi nite useful lives

The Group determines whether intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives, and intangible assets 

not yet available for use, are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 

recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. The assumptions used 

in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of intangibles with indefi nite useful lives 

are discussed in note 10.

During the reporting period, certain intangible assets previously assessed as having indefi nite useful lives 

were reassessed as having fi nite useful lives. As such these intangible assets have begun being amortised 

over the remaining expiry period of the patents.

Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value 

of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the 

Binomial method taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted, 

as discussed in note 5. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based 

payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with the next annual 

reporting period but may impact expenses and equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Signifi cant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Development costs

An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal project is recognised only when 

Phosphagenics can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will 

be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset 

will generate future economic benefi ts, the availability of resources to complete the development and 

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Any expenditure capitalised is amortised over the period of expected future benefi t from the related project 

on a straight line basis. The carrying value of capitalised developments costs not yet available for use 

is tested for impairment annually at 31 December.

Certain development costs relate to patents which have fi nite lives. These costs are being amortised over 

their remaining useful lives which ranges between 9 to 12 years.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short term deposits in the statement of fi nancial position comprise cash at bank and in hand 

and short-term deposits with an original maturity of six months or less, that are readily convertible 

to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant rate of change in value.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 

and cash equivalents as defi ned above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(g) Provisions and employee benefi ts

General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required 

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 

contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 

virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive 

income net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 

to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present 

value refl ects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the 

liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in fi nance costs.

Employee leave benefi ts

Wages, salaries and, annual leave.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefi ts and annual leave expected to be settled 

within twelve months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the 

reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured 

at the rates paid or payable.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 

payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the 

projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 

of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that 

match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfl ows.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 

received and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 

it is recognised as income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the 

costs that it is intended to compensate.

Income is also recognised where there is a reasonable assurance that a cash benefi t will arise under 

the R&D tax incentive from eligible expenditure incurred during the period.

(i) Income Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. 

The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for fi nancial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

•  except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

•  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 

be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward 

of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax 

assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

•  except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

•  in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profi t will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi t will be available to allow all or part 

of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 

extent that it has become probable that future taxable profi t will allow the deferred asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 

year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

Tax consolidation legislation

Phosphagenics Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities elected to form a tax 

consolidation group as of 1 July 2009. As a result the tax base of intangible assets was reset such that 

the deferred tax liability of $13,830,498 was reversed during the year ended 31 December 2011.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
The head entity, Phosphagenics Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue 

to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the Group allocation 

approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to 

members of the tax consolidated group.

(i) Income Tax (continued)

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Phosphagenics Limited also recognises 

the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused 

tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

(j) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

•  where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 

of the expense item as applicable; and

•  receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of fi nancial position.

Cash fl ows are included in the statement of cash fl ows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash 

fl ows arising from investing and fi nancing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 

authority is classifi ed as part of operating cash fl ows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 

net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(k) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost. The cost 

of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 

development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income in the year in which the expenditure was incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either fi nite or indefi nite. Intangible assets with fi nite lives 

are amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 

asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a fi nite 

useful life is reviewed at least at each fi nancial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 

pattern of consumption of future economic benefi ts embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively 

by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate. 

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with fi nite lives is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at 

the cashgenerating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 

with an indefi nite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether indefi nite life assessment 

continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefi nite to fi nite is 

accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and Development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an 

internal project is recognised only when Phosphagenics can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing 

the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or 

sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefi ts, the availability of resources to complete 

the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 

its development. Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied 

requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the period of expected benefi t from the related project.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Intangible assets (continued)

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment 

annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment 

arises during the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

(l) Impairment of non- fi nancial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefi nite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 

for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 

impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The Group conducts an annual review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to 

assess for any indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, 

technology and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. 

If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 

in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 

are separately identifi able cash infl ows that are largely independent of the cash infl ows from other assets 

or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill that have previously been impaired are tested for possible 

reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment 

may have reversed.

(m) Investments and other fi nancial assets

Investments and other fi nancial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement are categorised as either fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale fi nancial assets. The classifi cation depends 

on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. Designation is re-evaluated at each 

reporting date, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories.

When fi nancial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets 

not at fair value through profi t or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are those non-derivative fi nancial assets, principally equity securities 

that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classifi ed as any of the three preceding categories. 

After initial recognition available-for-sale fi nancial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses 

being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the 

investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported 

in equity is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised fi nancial markets are determined 

by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and are not discounted due to their 

short term nature. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 

of the fi nancial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments 

in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are not secured and are usually paid 

within 30 days of recognition.

(o) Share-based payment transactions

The Group provides benefi ts to its employees, including Key Management Personnel (KMP), in the form 

of sharebased payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over 

shares (equity-settled transactions). There is currently two plans in place to provide these benefi ts being 

the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), and the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS) which 

provides benefi ts to key management personnel.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions 

linked to the price of the shares of Phosphagenics Limited.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfi lled (the vesting period), ending 

on the date on which the relevant party becomes fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

The charge to the statement of comprehensive income for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated 

above less the amounts already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding entry to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modifi ed, as a minimum an expense is recognised 

as if the terms had not been modifi ed. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value 

of the transaction as a result of the modifi cation, as measured at the date of modifi cation.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, 

and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 

substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 

the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modifi cation of the original award, as described 

in the previous paragraph.

In reporting periods where a net loss is reported, options are considered anti-dilutive and therefore 

are excluded in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. Where a net profi t is reported, options 

are considered dilutive and therefore included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

(p) Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantial risks and reward of ownership are classifi ed as operating 

leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Inventories

Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and fi nished goods are valued at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and conditions 

are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials

Purchase cost on a fi rst-in, fi rst-out basis. The cost of purchase comprises the purchase price including, 

import duties and other taxes (other than those subsequently recoverable by the entity from the taxing 

authorities), transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of raw materials. 

Volume discounts and rebates are included in determining the cost of purchase.

Finished goods and work-in-progress

Cost of direct materials, labour and a proportion of variable and fi xed manufacturing overheads based 

on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 

of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(r) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have thirty to sixty day terms, are recognised initially at fair value 

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance 

for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts that are known to be 

uncollectible are written off when identifi ed. An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective 

evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Financial diffi culties of the debtor, default 

payments or debts more than ninety days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment. 

The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value 

of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

(s) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis as follows:

Computer Equipment – 33% p.a.

Plant and equipment – 20% p.a.

Offi ce Equipment - 20% p.a.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 

if appropriate, at each reporting period. When no future economic benefi ts are expected to arise from 

the continued use of an item of property, plant and equipment, it is derecognised. Any gain or loss arising 

on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the item 

is derecognised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group 

and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue 

is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable taking into account contractually 

defi ned terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The following specifi c recognition criteria must also 

be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks 

and rewards of ownership of the goods and the costs in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured. 

Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.

Royalties

Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial asset) to the net 

carrying amount of the fi nancial asset.

(u) Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Both the functional and presentation currency of Phosphagenics Limited and its Australian subsidiaries 

is Australian dollars ($). The United States subsidiaries functional currency is United States Dollars which 

is translated to the presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange 

rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the 

date of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined.

Translation of Group Companies functional currency to presentation currency

The results of the United States subsidiary are translated into Australian Dollars as at the date of each 

transaction. Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at reporting date. Exchange 

variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in the United 

States subsidiary are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. If the United States subsidiary were 

sold, the proportionate share of exchange differences would be transferred out of equity and recognised 

in the profi t and loss.

(w) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profi t or loss attributable to members of the parent divided 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. Where the Group generates a loss attributable 

to members of the parent, basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as a loss attributable 

to members of the parent cannot be further diluted.
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3. OTHER REVENUE AND EXPENSES

2012
 $’000’s

2011
$’000’s

(a)  Licences

Licences – Other  246 228

Total 246 228

(b)  Government Grants

Export markets development grant1 27 105

R&D tax incentive credit2 3,328 1,131

Total 3,355 1,236
1  The Export markets development grant relates to monies received as a partial offset for expenses incurred by Phosphagenics in 

developing its overseas markets.

2  The R&D tax incentive credit is the estimated cash payment anticipated to be received as a 45% offset of eligible expenditure 

incurred in developing the Company’s products through research and development activities undertaken from 1 January 2012 to 31 

December 2012.

(c)  Other Expenses

Net foreign exchange gains 21 72

Depreciation (229) (261)

Loss on sale of available-for-sale investments - (163)

Travel (149) (326)

Provision for doubtful debts (96) -

Other (46) (93)

Total (499) (771)
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4. INCOME TAXES

2012
$’000’s 

2011
$’000’s

Major components of income tax expense are:

Current income tax - -

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences - (13,830)

Income tax expense recorded in the statement of comprehensive 

income - (13,830)

The prima facie income tax expense/(benefi t) on pre-tax accounting 

profi t from operations reconciles to the income tax expense in the 

fi nancial statements as follows:

Accounting (loss) before income tax (11,055) (12,724)

Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2010: 30%) (3,317) (3,817)

Non-deductible expenses 149 270

Derecognition of deferred tax liability from formation of tax 

consolidated group - (13,830)

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax 

assets 3,168 3,547

Income tax benefi t reported in income statement - (13,830)

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:

Intellectual property - -

Unrecognised deferred tax balances

The following items have not been brought to account 

as deferred tax assets:

Tax losses not recognised 21,384 20,435

Temporary differences not recognised - -

Total 21,384 20,435

Tax Losses

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses.

Tax consolidation

(i) Members of the tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement

Phosphagenics Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated 

group with effect from 1 July 2009. Phosphagenics Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated 

group. As a result the tax base of intangible assets was reset such that the deferred tax liability of 

$13,830,498 was reversed during 2011.

(ii) Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group 
Measurement method adopted under AASB Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own 

current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the Group allocation approach in determining 

the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated 

group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent with 

the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes.
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5. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The Group provides benefi ts to service providers in the form of share-based payments. Employees render 

services in exchange for rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). There are currently two schemes 

in place to provide these benefi ts to employees, being the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) and the 

Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS).

•  The ESOP is designed to align participants’ interests with those of shareholders by increasing 

the value of the Company’s shares. Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 

For options granted under the terms of the ESOP a service period was determined as the most 

appropriate criteria to attach to the options given Phosphagenics is still commercialising its products. 

There are no other services or performance criteria attached to share based payment options issued 

under the terms of the ESOP.

•  The ECRS allows eligible employees to be granted Rights to acquire Shares at no cost. The purpose 

of the Scheme is to provide a long term incentive to staff as part of a focus to more closely link overall 

remuneration to the achievement of performance benchmarks, to encourage direct involvement 

and interest in the performance of the Company and to enable the acquisition of a long term equity 

interest in the Company by its staff. All employees, including executive and non-executive Directors, 

and any individual whom the Board determines to be an eligible participant for the purposes of the 

Scheme, are eligible to participate in the Scheme.

Options held by directors of the parent and its subsidiaries were acquired as part of the original 

subscriptions for shares in Phosphagenics Limited in 1999. Subsequently, all options granted to key 

management personnel have been issued in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share 

Option Plan (ESOP). All rights granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance 

with the provisions of the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS). 

Summary of options granted as share based payments

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 

movements in, share options issued during the year.

Item

2012
Options

No.

2012
WAEP

$

2011
Options

No.

2011
WAEP

$

Outstanding at beginning of the year 13,150,000 $0.17 25,450,000 $0.17

Granted during the year - - 1,000,000 $0.17

Forfeited during the year - - (11,100,000) $0.14

Exercised during the year (2,650,000) $0.13 - -

Expired during the year (1,100,000) $0.26 (2,200,000) $0.24

Outstanding at end of the year 9,400,000 $0.15 13,150,000 $0.15

Exercisable at end of the year 9,400,000 $0.15 13,150,000 $0.15

When a participant in the employee share option plan ceases employment prior to the vesting of their share 

options, the share options are forfeited unless cessation of employment is due to retirement or death.

A service period was determined as the most appropriate criteria to attach to the options given 

Phosphagenics is still developing its products for commercialisation. There is no other service or 

performance criteria attached to share based payment options.
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The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2012 is represented by:

Issuing entity

Australian 
stock 

exchange 
listed

shares under 
option

No.
Class of 

shares

Exercise
price

$ Expiry date

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 5,000,000 Ordinary $0.14 31 Mar 2013

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,450,000 Ordinary $0.15 17 Aug 2013

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,000,000 Ordinary $0.15 14 May 2014

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 1,950,000 Ordinary $0.15 17 June 2014

Total 9,400,000

Summary of performance rights granted as share based payments

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, 

and movements in, performance rights issued during the year.

Item

2012 
Performance 

Rights No.

2012
WAEP

$ 

2011
Options

No. 

2011
WAEP

$

Outstanding at beginning of the year 17,400,000 - - -

Granted during the year 1,850,000 0.00 17,400,000 0.00

Forfeited during the year (1,150,000) - - -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at end of the year 18,100,000 0.00 17,400,000 0.00

Exercisable at end of the year Nil - Nil -

When a participant in the ECRS ceases employment prior to the vesting of their performance rights, the 

performance rights are forfeited unless cessation of employment is due to retirement or death. At 31 

December 2012 $30,962 was reversed as a result of forfeited unvested performance rights.

The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2012 is represented by:

Issuing entity

Australian 
stock 

exchange 
listed

Performance 
Rights

No.
Class of 

shares

Exercise
price

$ Expiry date

Phosphagenics Ltd unquoted 18,100,000 Ordinary $0.00 30 June 2016

Total 18,100,000

The expense recognised from equity settled share based performance transactions during the year is 

$425,573. There were no cancellation or modifi cations to the awards in 2012 or 2011.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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5. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Option pricing model

Fair values under both methods are calculated using a Binomial model. Options and Rights will be settled in 

ordinary shares of Phosphagenics Limited and vested options/rights lapse if unexercised after the expiry date.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions 

linked to the price of the shares of Phosphagenics Limited.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfi lled (the vesting period), ending 

on the date on which the relevant party becomes fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

During the year ended 31 December 2012 no share options were granted under the ESOP (2011: NIL).

During the year ended 31 December 2012 a total of 1,850,000 share rights were granted under the 

ECRS (2011: 17,400,000) which will vest based upon achievement of certain performance objectives. 

These rights consisted of 1,650,000 share rights with a fair value of $0.14 and 200,000 share rights with 

a fair value of $0.09.

During the year ended 31 December 2012 no options were granted to non-employees (2011: 1,000,000).

Model Inputs
2012

Rights
2012

Rights
2011

Rights
2011

Options

Dividend yield % 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility % 60% 60% 60% 61%

Risk-free interest rate % 4.00% 4.00% 4.87% 4.75%

Option life (years) 2.8 years 2.3 years 3.6 years 3 years

Option Exercise price $ Nil Nil Nil $0.170

Weighted Average Share price at 

measurement date $0.24 $0.16 $0.155 $0.145

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 

patterns that may occur.

The expected volatility refl ects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 

which may not necessarily be the actual outcome.

6. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
The auditor of Phosphagenics Ltd (the parent), and the Group is Ernst & Young.

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young
2012 

$
2011

$

Audit or review of the fi nancial report 84,935 91,005

Other non audit services 1,740 -

Taxation services 50,500 63,300

Total 137,175 154,305
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Trade receivables 485 644

Allowance for impairment loss (100) (8)

385 636

Other receivables* 4,468 1,448

Goods and services tax (GST) recoverable 140 292

Total 4,993 2,376

Trade receivables are non interest bearing and are generally 45 day terms or as specifi ed in contracts 

or agreements.

* Included within the other receivables balance is $4,459,143 relating to R&D tax incentives.

Allowance for impairment loss

A provision for impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence (such as the probability 

of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty of the debtor) that the Group may not be able to collect 

all the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. Impaired debts are derecognised when they 

are assessed as uncollectible. Debts totalling $100,104 were deemed impaired at 31 December 2012.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Period
Total 

$’000

Neither 
past due 

or impaired 
$’000

Past due but not impaired $’000

31-60 days 
$’000

61-90 days 
$’000

90+ days 
$’000

31 December 2012 385 61 203 32 89

31 December 2011 636 238 159 224 15

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. 

It is expected that these other balances will be received when due.

Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair 

value. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.

8. INVENTORIES

2012 
$’000

 2011 
$’000

Raw materials (at cost) 535 739

Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value) 319 225

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value 854 964

During 2012, $104,300 (2011: $93,530) was recognised as an expense for inventories written off or a 

provision raised for inventories adjusted to their net realisable value. This is recognised in cost of sales.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2012

Plant and 
equipment at 

cost $’000 Total $’000

Year ended 31 December 2012

At 1 January 2012 net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,161 1,161

Additions 139 139

Disposals - -

Depreciation charge for the year (266) (266)

At 31 December 2012, net of accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 1,034 1,034

At 31 December 2012

Cost 2,830 2,830

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,796) (1,796)

Net carrying value 1,034 1,034

2011

Plant and 
equipment at 

cost $’000 Total $’000

Year ended 31 December 2011

At 1 January 2011 net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,298 1,298

Additions 90 90

Capital Work in progress 34 34

Disposals - -

Depreciation charge for the year (261) (261)

At 31 December 2011, net of accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 1,161 1,161

At 31 December 2011

Cost 2,690 2,690

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,529) (1,529)

Net carrying value 1,161 1,161
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2012

Intellectual 
Property 

$000

Development 
costs
$000

Total
$000

Balance at 1 January 2012 net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 43,255 1,402 44,657

Additions internally developed - - -

Provision for impairment - - -

Amortisation (4,621) (66) (4,687)

Balance at 31 December 2012 net of 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 38,634 1,336 39,970

At 31 December 2012

Cost (gross carrying amount) 121,362 3,295 124,657

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (82,728) (1,959) (84,687)

Net carrying amount 38,634 1,336 39,970

2011

Intellectual 
Property

$000

Development 
costs
$000

Total
$000

Balance at 1 January 2011 net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 45,577 1,469 47,046

Additions internally developed - - -

Provision for impairment - - -

Amortisation (2,322) (67) (2,389)

Balance at 31 December 2011 net of 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 43,255 1,402 44,657

At 31 December 2011

Cost (gross carrying amount) 121,362 3,295 124,657

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (78,107) (1,893) (80,000)

Net carrying amount 43,255 1,402 44,657

Impairment Testing

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property assets cost represent the fair value of patents acquired by the Company 

at 31 December 2004.

Certain intellectual property assets, acquired patents, are deemed to have a fi nite life and are amortised from 

the date signifi cant revenues are earned over the remaining patent life. Up until 30 June 2011 Phosphagenics 

Limited was yet to earn signifi cant revenues from acquired patent assets, therefore these assets had not yet 

been amortised. However with signifi cant revenues commencing during the reporting period, amortisation 

of these patents commenced from 1 July 2011, with an amortisation period ranging from between 

8.8 to 12.1 years. These assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment arises.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets with an indefi nite life or not available for use are tested for impairment at least annually 

at 31 December, or earlier where an indicator of impairment arises. The recoverable amount has been 

determined by calculation of the value in use being the present value of future cash fl ows expected 

to be derived from intangible assets, excluding expansionary activities, fi nance costs and income tax.

Asset recoverable amounts (value in use) are calculated using discounted cash fl ow methodology, 

and applying sensitivity analysis to various input assumptions.

Key assumptions of these valuations include:

•  management opinion on future cash fl ows on a product by product basis

•  different residual lifetime of acquired patents

•  allocation of products’ value to underlying patents

•  probability adjustments (ranging from 0.4275 to 1.00) to individual cash fl ows, refl ecting various types 

of risks

•  no terminal value

The pre-tax discount rate used was 20%, based on:

•  the required rates of return on listed companies in a similar business

•  the indicative rates of return required by suppliers of venture capital

•  the Groups current level of fi nancial gearing

Recoverable amounts were assessed from an individual patent asset perspective. Based on the 

recoverable amounts, no impairment exists for intangible assets with an indefi nite useful life for the year 

ended 31 December 2012 (2011: NIL).

Development costs

Development expenditure on an internal project is recognised as an intangible asset only when 

Phosphagenics can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will 

be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset 

will generate future economic benefi ts, the availability of resources to complete the development and the 

ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Capitalised development costs relating to patents are amortised from the date signifi cant revenues are 

carried over the remaining patent life.

Development expenditure is tested for impairment annually, when the asset is not yet available 

for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting period. 

At 31 December 2012 zero development costs were impaired and recognised as an expense (2011: Nil).

11. CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Trade payables 512 1,997

Accrued expenses 569 1,123

Goods and services tax (GST) payable 20 29

Other - 209

Total 1,101 3,358

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

Other payables are non-trade payables and non-interest bearing.
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12. PROVISIONS

CURRENT
2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Annual leave benefi ts 247 166

Long service leave benefi ts 105 78

Total 352 244

NON CURRENT 
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Long service leave benefi ts 56 29

13. ISSUED CAPITAL

Fully paid ordinary shares
2012 

No. ‘000’s
2012 
$’000

2011 
No. ‘000’s

2011 
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 1,017,565 209,546 739,696 176,905

Issue of shares - - 277,869 34,707

Exercise of options 2,650 356 - -

Capital raising costs - (41) - (2,066)

Balance at end of year 1,020,215 209,861 1,017,565 209,546

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Share options

As at close of business on 31 December 2012 there were a total of 9,400,000 unexercised unquoted 

options issued as share based payments, of which 9,400,000 options are fully vested and can be 

exercised at any time up to the date of expiry.

As at close of business on 31 December 2012 there were a total of 18,100,000 unexercised unquoted 

rights issued as share based payments, of which nil are fully vested, and therefore cannot yet be 

exercised.

Share options and share rights carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. For further details of share 

based payments refer to note 5.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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14. RESERVES

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Reserves

Business combination 27,812 27,812

Employee equity-settled benefi ts 1,588 1,193

Other equity-settled benefi ts 306 306

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 18 7

29,724 29,318

Business combination reserve

Balance at beginning of year 27,812 27,812

Balance at end of year 27,812 27,812

The business combinations reserve is used to record fair value 

adjustments relating to the business combination

Employee equity-settled benefi ts reserve

Balance at beginning of year 1,193 1,057

Share based payment expense 395 136

Balance at end of year 1,588 1,193

The employee share option and share plan reserve is used to record 

the value of equity benefi ts provided to employees and Directors as 

part of their remuneration. For further details refer to note 5 in the 

Financial Statements.

Other equity-settled benefi ts reserve

Balance at beginning of year 306 248

Share based payments - 58

Balance at end of year 306 306

The other equity-settled benefi ts reserve is used to record the value 

of equity benefi ts provided to suppliers as part of their remuneration.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of year 7 9

Foreign Currency Translation 11 (2)

Balance at end of year 18 7

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record the 

translation from Phosphagenics Inc.’s functional currency into 

Phosphagenics Ltd’s reporting currency.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t / (loss), from continuing operations 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for the year, by the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t / (loss) attributable to ordinary 

shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the year (adjusted 

for the effects of dilutive options).

There are no instruments (e.g., share options) excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share 

that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would 

signifi cantly change the number of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between 

the reporting date and the date of completion of these fi nancial statements.

Profi t / (loss) used in calculating earnings per share
2012

$’000’s
2011

$’000’s

Net Profi t / (loss) from continuing operations attributable to ordinary 

equity holders for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (11,055) 1,106

Weighted average number of shares 
2012

No. ‘000’s
2011

No. ‘000’s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 

basic earnings per share 1,019,318 833,035

Effect of dilution:

Share options 10,773 13,776

Performance rights 18,535 5,736

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect 

of dilution 1,048,626 852,548

Information on the classifi cation of securities

Options quoted on the ASX and options granted to employees and other service providers are considered 

to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share 

to the extent they are dilutive. These options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings 

per share.

16. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

Operating Leases

Non-cancellable operating leases relate to the rent of commercial property used for business operations.

Non-cancellable operating lease payments 2012
$’000’s

 2011
$’000’s

Within 1 year 176 336

After 1 year but not more than 5 years 142 249

After more than 5 years - -

Total minimum lease payments 318 585

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identifi cation of reportable segments

The group has identifi ed its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed 

and used by the Chief Executive Offi cer and his management team (the chief operating decision makers) 

in assessing the performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

The operating segments are identifi ed by management based on the group’s risks and returns that are 

affected predominantly by differences in the products and services provided. The reportable segments 

are based on aggregated operating segments determined according to the nature of the products and 

services provided, with each reportable segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different 

products and serves different markets.

Types of products and services

Nutraceuticals

Nutraceuticals is the use of vitamins and nutritious products to improve human health. The nutraceutical 

business is developing active ingredients for the following market segments:

•  Dietary Supplements - e.g. vitamin capsules & tablets. Phosphagenics is using its patented 

technology to orally deliver dietary supplements aimed at improving bioavailability and effi cacy.

•  Functional Foods and Beverages - e.g. nutritionally enhanced foods. Functional foods are an 

expanding nutraceutical market division, aimed at improving the nutritional benefi ts of everyday foods.

•  Personal care products. Discovery research at Phosphagenics has shown that �-tocopheryl 

phosphate (TP) is a natural molecule with increased activity over standard Vitamin E (� tocopherol). 

TP has scientifi cally proven anti-infl ammatory properties, it reduces redness, protects against 

UV induced photo damage, and also helps to heal and prevent acne. The structure of TP allows 

it to act as a penetration enhancer, increasing dermal absorption compared to tocopherol acetate 

and �-tocopherol, allowing it to penetrate deeper into the skin for increased action. TP is also able 

to increase the penetration of molecules formulated in the same cream.

In April 2010 Phosphagenics launched its own brand of cosmetic products in Australia (Elixia®) sold 

through Myer, Priceline, TVSN, Pulse Pharmacies, and other retail outlets. Phosphagenics’ nutraceutical 

business is a revenue-generating growth business. The route to market for Phosphagenics’ nutraceutical 

products is through partnering with companies that have established distribution networks within 

the relevant market segments.

Pharmaceuticals

Phosphagenics’ pharmaceutical segment is focused on:

•  Drug delivery – enhancing the delivery of existing drugs orally or through the skin, utilising 

Phosphagenics’ delivery technology TPM™

•  Drug enhancement – augmenting the biological activity of existing drugs by adding a phosphate 

group to the chemical structure of the drug

The route to market for Phosphagenics’ pharmaceutical products is through partnering with larger 

pharmaceutical companies at the appropriate stage in a product’s development so as to maximise return 

on the Company’s research and development investment.

The core competencies of the pharmaceutical business are generation of pharmaceutical intellectual 

property and translation of this knowledge base into commercially viable product candidates 

for the treatment of human conditions and disease.

Phosphagenics’ strategy is to capitalise on its proprietary technology through joining its resources 

and development capabilities with co-development partners or licensees.
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17. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The objective of any development or marketing agreement entered into is to generate revenues from 

three sources:

•  milestone payments and development fees during the pre-marketing phases of product development;

•  royalties on product sales by partners; and

•  manufacturing and supply of product to partners, predominantly of the phosphorylated delivery 

compound.

Phosphagenics choice of development products is based on market opportunity and the overall 

commercial viability of each individual drug candidate, including assessment of the current and expected 

competition for the product, the cost, timing and degree of diffi culty to commercialise the product, 

the patent status of the drug compound and the market size of the product to be developed.

Depreciation & amortisation expense, and Grant income is managed on a Group basis and is therefore 

not allocated to business segments.

Accounting policies and inter-segment transactions

Accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments are contained in note 2 to the accounts.

Major customers

The Group has an expanding number of customers to which it provides products and services. 

The most signifi cant client accounts for 47% (2011: 32%) of external revenue within the nutraceuticals 

operating segment. The next most signifi cant client accounts for 16% (2011: 18%) of external revenue 

within the nutraceuticals operating segment.

Business segments

2012

Nutra-
ceuticals 

$’000’s

Pharma-
ceuticals

$’000’s

Total all 
Segments 

$’000s
Unallocated 

$’000’s

Total 
Group 

$’000’s

Revenue

Sales and Royalties 1,530 - 1,530 - 1,530

Grant Income - - - 3,355 3,355

Total segment revenue 1,530 - 1,530 3,355 4,885

Net operating profi t/(loss) 
after tax (704) (717) (1,421) (9,634) (11,055)

Interest revenue - - - 1,133 1,133

Depreciation and 

amortisation - (67) (67) (4,885) (4,952)

Segment assets 2,923 901 3,824 60,297 64,121

Capital Expenditure - 23 23 116 139

Segment liabilities 18 537 555 954 1,509

Cash fl ow information

Net cash fl ow from 

Operating activities (897) (4,936) (5,833) (5,835) (11,668)

Net cash fl ow from 

investing activities - (23) (23) 1,051 1,028

Net cash fl ow from 

fi nancing activities - - - 356 356

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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17. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

2011
Nutraceuti-
cals $’000’s

Pharmaceu-
ticals $’000’s

Total all 
Segments 

$’000s
Unallocated 

$’000’s
Total Group 

$’000’s

Revenue

Sales and Royalties 2,738 6 2,744 - 2,744

Grant Income 105 - 105 1,131 1,236

Total segment revenue 2,843 6 2,849 1,131 3,980

Net operating profi t/(loss) 
after tax (63) (1,513) (1,576) 2,682 1,106

Interest revenue - - - 427 427

Depreciation and 

amortisation - (67) (67) (2,583) (2,650)

Segment assets 3,023 878 3,901 72,676 76,577

Capital Expenditure - - - 90 90

Segment liabilities 645 1,562 2,207 1,424 3,631

Cash fl ow information

Net cash fl ow from 

Operating activities (2,260) (741) (3,001) (6,292) (9,293)

Net cash fl ow from 

investing activities - 971 971 137 1,108

Net cash fl ow from 

fi nancing activities - - - 32,641 32,641

i) Segment revenue reconciliation to the statement of comprehensive income

Reconciliation of revenue
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Total segment revenue 1,530 2,849

Other revenue from continuing activities 1,133 427

Total revenue 2,663 3,276

Revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below. Revenue is attributed to 

geographic location based on the location of the customers.

Revenue by geographical location
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Australia 1,632 2,074

United States 968 733

Other 63 469

Total revenue 2,663 3,276

ii) Segment net operating profi t after tax reconciliation to the statement of 

comprehensive income

The executive management committee meets on a monthly basis to assess the performance of each 

segment by analysing the segment’s net operating profi t after tax. A segment’s net operating profi t after 

tax excludes non operating income and expense such as dividends received, fair value gains and losses, 

gains and losses on disposal of assets and impairment charges. Income tax expenses are calculated as 

30% (2011: 30%) of the segment’s net operating profi t.
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17. SEGMENT REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of segment net operating profi t after tax to net 
profi t/loss before tax

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Segment net operating profi t/(loss) after tax (1,421) (1,576)

Other operating loss from continuing activities (4,836) (8,602)

Amortisation (4,798) (2,546)

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment - -

Total net profi t before tax per the statement of 

comprehensive income (11,055) (12,724)

iii) Segment assets reconciliation to the statement of fi nancial position

In assessing the segment performance on a monthly basis, the executive management committee 

analyses the segment as described above and its relation to the segment assets. Segment assets are 

those operating assets of the entity that the management committee views as directly attributing to the 

performance of the segment. These assets include plant and equipment, receivables, inventory and 

intangibles and exclude available-for-sale assets, derivative assets and deferred tax assets.

Reconciliation of segment operating assets to total assets
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Segment operating assets 3,824 3,901

Other operating assets from continuing activities

Intangibles 39,970 44,657

Cash & cash equivalents 16,912 27,196

All other operating assets from continuing activities 3,415 823

Total assets per the statement of fi nancial position 64,121 76,577

The analysis of the location of non-current assets other than fi nancial instruments, deferred tax assets, 

pension assets is as follows

Non-current assets by geographical location
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Australia 41,002 45,816

United States 2 2

Total assets 41,004 45,818

iv) Segment liabilities reconciliation to the statement of fi nancial position

Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and debt. The Group has a centralised fi nance 

function that is responsible for raising debt and capital for the entire operations. Each entity or business 

uses this central function to invest excess cash or obtain funding for its operations.

Reconciliation of segment operating liabilities to total liabilities
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Segment operating liabilities 555 2,207

Deferred tax liabilities - -

Other operating liabilities from continuing activities 954 1,424

Total liabilities per the statement of fi nancial position 1,509 3,631

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of Phosphagenics Limited and the 

subsidiaries listed in the following table.

Entity
Country of 

Incorporation

2012
Equity 

Interest

2011
Equity 

Interest

2012 
Investment 

$’000

2011 
Investment 

$’000

Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 27,111 27,111

Preform Technologies Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% - -

Adoil Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% - -

Phosphagenics Inc. USA 100% 100% - -

Phosphagenics have a 50% interest in Equine Ergogenics Australia Pty Ltd, for which no transactions 

have taken place.

Other transactions with key management personnel

The loss from operations includes no items of revenue and expense that resulted from transactions 

other than remuneration or equity holdings, with specifi ed directors or their personally-related entities.

Don Clarke is a partner of law fi rm Minter Ellison. Minter Ellison provided professional services to the 

Group totalling $31,542 (2011: $70,362) during the year. These services were provided on normal 

commercial terms.

Performance Rights holdings of key management personnel

2012

01 Jan 12 
Balance

No. Award date

Perfor-
mance 
Rights 

awarded 
during the 

year 
No.

Fair value
per per-

formance 
right at 

award date

31 Dec 12 
Balance

No.

Not 
Vested

No.

% of Re-
muneration 
consisting 
of Perfor-

mance 
rights

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 750,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 750,000 750,000 20.3%

Clarke, D 350,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

James, S 350,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

Webb, S 350,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 350,000 350,000 13.9%

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 2,000,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 11.2%

Ogru, E 2,000,000 1-May 2011 - $0.07 2,000,000 2,000,000 11.3%

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - 21-Mar-2012 750,000 - 750,000 750,000 12.0%

Gavin, P 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 - $0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 11.5%

Arnott, A 200,000 3-Oct-2011 - $0.07 200,000 200,000 5.8%

Butala, D 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 - $0.07 1,000,000 1,000,000 12.1%

El-Tamimy, M 1,000,000 3-Oct-2011 1,000,000 1,000,000 13.5%

Rosen, J - 21-Mar-2012 700,000 700,000 700,000 18.4%

Kyriakou, K 750,000 3-Oct-2011 (750,000) $0.07 - - -

Moses, G - - - - - - -

Totals 9,750,000 700,000 - 10,450,000 10,450,000

All performance rights granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance with the 

provisions of the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS).

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

PPG021_2012 Annual Report_SECTION B-2.indd   102 4/04/13   12:29 PM



103

18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Option holdings of key management personnel

2012

01 Jan 12 
Balance 

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No.

Options 
Exercised 

No.

Net other 
change 

No.

31 Dec 12 
Balance 

No.
Vested 

No.

Not 
Vested 

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L - - - - - - -

Clarke, D - - - - - - -

James, S 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000 2,400,000 -

Webb, S - - - - - - -

Executive Directors

Rosen, H - - - - - - -

Ogru, E - - - - - - -

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - - - - - - -

Gavin, P 400,000 - - - 400,000 400,000 -

Arnott, A - - - - - - -

Butala, D 250,000 - - - 250,000 250,000 -

El-Tamimy, M 450,000 - - - 450,000 450,000 -

Rosen, J - - - - - - -

Kyriakou, K1 - - - - - - -

Moses, G - - - - - - -

Totals 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000 -
1 K Kyriakou is no longer a key management personnel due to her resignation on 7 August 2012.

2011

01 Jan 11 
Balance 

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Options 
Exercised 

No.

Net other 
change 

No.

31 Dec 11 
Balance 

No.
Vested 

No.

Not 
Vested 

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L - - - - - - -

Clarke, D - - - - - - -

James, S - - - 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000 -

Webb, S - - - - - - -

Executive Directors

Rosen, H - - - - - - -

Ogru, E - - - - - - -

Key Management Personnel

Banti, F1 2,650,000 - - (2,650,000) - - -

Gavin, P 800,000 - - (400,000) 400,000 400,000 -

Arnott, A - - - - - - -

Butala, D 250,000 - - - 250,000 250,000 -

Harrison, K - - - - - - -

Kyriakou, K - - - - - - -

Libinaki, R 650,000 - - (400,000) 250,000 250,000 -

Totals 4,350,000 - - (1,050,000) 3,300,000 3,300,000 -
1 F Banti is no longer a key management personnel due to his resignation on 29 July 2011, although his options remain exercisable

All options granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance with the provisions 

of the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP).
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18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

2012

01 Jan 12 
Balance

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No.

Net other 
change

No.

31 Dec 12 
Balance

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 22,473 - - 22,473

Clarke, D 35,484 - - 35,484

James, S - - - -

Webb, S 111,000 - - 111,000

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 64,226,436 - - 64,226,436

Ogru, E 5,711,610 - - 5,711,610

Key Management Personnel

Alsop, H - - - -

Gavin, P 99,000 - - 99,000

Arnott, A - - - -

Butala, D - - - -

El-Tamimy, M - - - -

Rosen, J 2,000,068 - - 2,000,068

Kyriakou, K - - - -

Moses, G - - - -

Totals 72,550,522 - - 72,550,522

2011

01 Jan 11 
Balance

No.

Granted as 
remuneration 

No.

Net other 
change

No.

31 Dec 11 
Balance

No.

Non Executive Directors

Addison, J.L 19,000 - 3,473 22,473

Clarke, D 30,000 - 5,484 35,484

James, S - - - -

Webb, S 110,000 - 1,000 111,000

Executive Directors

Rosen, H 64,226,436 - - 64,226,436

Ogru, E 5,711,610 - - 5,711,610

Key Management Personnel

Banti, F - - - -

Gavin, P 99,000 - - 99,000

Arnott, A - - - -

Butala, D - - - -

Harrison, K - - - -

Kyriakou, K - - - -

Libinaki, R 344,451 - - 344,451

Totals 70,540,497 - 9,957 70,550,454
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18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

Transactions with other related parties

During the year, Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd repaid $149,604 (2011: repaid $90,048) and Phosphagenics 

Inc. Borrowed $370,063 (2011: $561,730) from Phosphagenics Ltd (the parent entity). The loan is non 

trading in nature.

Phosphagenics Inc has insuffi cient net assets to repay the inter company loan balance to Phosphagenics 

Ltd (the parent entity). At 31 December 2012 Phosphagenics Ltd recognised an impairment of $426,730 

(2011: $521,604) against the inter company loan with Phosphagenics Inc.

No amounts were provided for doubtful debts relating to debts due from related parties at reporting date 

(2011: Nil).

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the fi nancial statements 

or notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly affected, or may 

signifi cantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state 

of affairs of the consolidated entity in future fi nancial years.

20. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and 

in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and 

cash equivalents at the end of the fi nancial year, as shown in the statement of cash fl ows, is reconciled 

to the related items in the statement of fi nancial position as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash at Bank 1,254 1,064

Short Term Deposits 15,658 26,132

16,912 27,196

(b) Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash fl ows from operations

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Net Profi t / (loss) after tax (11,055) 1,106

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, disposal and amortisation of non-current assets 4,952 2,650

Impairment of available-for-sale asset - 706

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale asset - 163

Share based payment expense (ECRS) 395 136

Other share based payments - 58

Interest received (1,248) (216)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables and other receivables (2,617) (1,959)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 110 (442)

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (83) (178)

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liability - (13,830)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and other payables (2,252) 2,355

(Decrease)/increase in provisions 135 158

Net cash (used in) operating activities (11,663) (9,293)

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PPG021_2012 Annual Report_SECTION B-2.indd   105 4/04/13   12:29 PM



106

PHOSPHAGENICS ANNUAL REPORT 2012

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal fi nancial instruments comprise of cash and short-term deposits. Various fi nancial 

instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables arise directly from operations. The Group’s 

activities expose it primarily to the fi nancial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group does not enter into, or trade, fi nancial instruments including derivative fi nancial instruments, 

for speculative purposes and manages its exposure to key fi nancial risks, including interest rate and 

currency risk in accordance with the principals of prudent fi nancial management. The objective of this 

is to support the delivery of the Group’s fi nancial targets whilst protecting future fi nancial security.

Primary responsibility for identifi cation and control of fi nancial risks rests with the Audit Committee under 

the authority of the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of the risks including 

foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and future cash fl ow forecast projections.

Details of the signifi cant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 

the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of 

each class of fi nancial asset, fi nancial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the fi nancial 

statements.

(b) Risk exposures and responses

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity is only exposed to interest rate risk relating to cash at bank as it has no 

borrowings. At reporting date the Group has the following fi nancial assets (no fi nancial liabilities at 31 

December 2012 or 31 December 2011) exposed to Australian Variable Interest Rates;

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,912 27,196

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at 31 December 

2012. If interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, 

post tax loss and equity would have been affected as follows;

Post Tax Loss
Higher/(Lower)

Equity
Higher/(Lower)

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Judgements of reasonably 
possible movements:

+ 1% (100 basis points) 169 272 - -

-.5% (50 basis points) (85) (136) - -

The movements in profi t are due to higher/lower interest income from variable rate term deposits and cash 

balances. There is no equity movement as there are no fi nancial assets or fi nancial liabilities which are 

designated as cash fl ow hedges. The sensitivity is lower in 2012 in comparison to 2011 due to the lower 

cash and cash equivalents balance.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures principally due to its operations in the United States. 

Such exposure arises from sales or purchases by an operating unit in currencies, principally US dollars, 

other than the Groups presentation currency.

Approximately 67% of sales and royalties (2011: 44%) are denominated in currencies other than the 

presentation currency of the Group (Australian dollars), whilst approximately 82% (2011: 89%) of costs 

are denominated in the Groups presentation currency. At 31 December 2012 the Group had the following 

exposure to US dollar foreign currency not designated in cash fl ow hedges:
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 139 207

Trade and other receivables 277 306

416 513

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables (396) (543)

Net Exposure 20 (30)

(b) Risk exposures and responses

At 31 December 2012, had the Australian Dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other 

variables held constant, post tax profi t and equity would have been affected as follows;

Post Tax Loss
Higher/(Lower)

Equity 
Higher/(Lower)

2012
$’000 

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Judgements of reasonably 
possible movements:

Consolidated

AUD/USD +10% 14 1 - -

AUD/USD -5% -7 0 - -

Credit risk management

Credit risk arises from the fi nancial assets of the Group comprising cash and cash equivalents and 

trade and other receivables. Credit risk refers to the risk the counterparty will default on its contractual 

obligations resulting in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with 

creditworthy counterparties and obtaining suffi cient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating 

the risk of fi nancial loss from defaults.

Group exposure to, and the credit ratings of, counterparties are continuously monitored and 

the aggregate value of transactions concluded are with approved counterparties. The Group does 

not have any signifi cant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 

having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and fi nancial instruments is limited because 

the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 

The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The carrying value of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 

represents the Groups maximum exposure to credit risk. Maturity analysis of fi nancial assets and liabilities 

based on management’s expectations as follows;

Year Ended 
31 December 2012

≤ 6 
Months 

$’000

6-12 
Months 

$’000

1-5 
Years 
$’000

>5 
Years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,912 - - - 16,912

Trade and other receivables 525 - - - 525

17,437 - - - 17,437

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,101) - - - (1,101)

(1,101) - - - (1,101)

Net Exposure 16,336 - - - 16,336

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Risk exposures and responses

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk arises from the fi nancial liabilities of the group and the group’s subsequent ability to meet their 

obligations to repay their fi nancial liabilities as and when they fall due. The Group continuously monitors 

cash fl ows and matches the maturity profi les of fi nancial assets and liabilities.

Year Ended
31 December 2012

≤ 6 
Months 

$’000

6-12 
Months 

$’000

1-5 
Years 
$’000

>5 
Years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Liquid fi nancial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,912 - - - 16,912

Trade and other receivables 4,993 - - - 4,993

21,905 - - - 21,905

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,101) - - - (1,101)

(1,101) - - - (1,101)

Net infl ow/(outfl ow) 20,804 - - - 20,804

Year Ended
31 December 2011

≤ 6
Months 

$’000

6-12 
Months 

$’000

1-5
Years
$’000

>5
Years
$’000

Total
$’000

Liquid fi nancial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27,196 - - - 27,196

Trade and other receivables 2,376 - - - 2,376

29,572 - - 29,572

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (3,358) - - - (3,358)

(3,358) - - - (3,358)

Net infl ow/(outfl ow) 26,214 - - - 26,214

Fair Value

Due to the short term nature of the fi nancial instruments, their carrying value is assumed to approximate 

their fair value. The Group uses quoted market price in estimating the fair value of the available for 

sale investments, which is considered a level 1 in fair value hierarchy. There are currently no fi nancial 

instruments with fair value estimated based on a level 2 or level 3 in the hierarchy.

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as 

at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. The fair values of the available-for-sale 

fi nancial investments are based on quoted market prices.

Capital Management

Management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern with the ability to fund future 

research and development requirements and commercialise the Groups products. Management also aim 

to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available and deliver optimal long 

term returns to shareholders.
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22. INFORMATION RELATING TO PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED (‘THE PARENT ENTITY’)

2012
$’000 

2011
$’000

Current assets 22,711 30,095

Total assets 76,519 84,016

Current liabilities 1,419 3,325

Total liabilities 1,476 3,354

Contributed equity 209,861 209,546

Accumulated losses (136,710) (130,383)

Employee equity benefi ts reserve 1,586 1,192

Other equity-settled benefi ts reserve 306 307

Total shareholder’s equity 75,043 80,662

Loss of the parent entity (6,340) (10,083)

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity (6,340) (10,083)

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts 

of its subsidiaries - -

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity - -

Contractual commitments by the parent equity for the acquisition 

of property, plant or equipment.

Notes to the consolidated fi nancial statements
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Phosphagenics Limited, I state that:

1. In the opinion of the directors:

 (a)   The fi nancial statements and notes of Phosphagenics Limited for the fi nancial year ended 

31 December 2012 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  Giving a true and fair view of its fi nancial position as at 31 December 2012 and performance

  (ii)  Complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 

and the Corporations Regulations 2001

 (b)   The fi nancial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as disclosed in note 2(a)

 (c)   There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable

2.   This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the 

Directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the fi nancial year ended 

31 December 2012.

On behalf of the Board

Jonathan Lancelot Addison
Chairman

19 February 2013

Melbourne

Directors’ Declaration
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Additional Shareholder Information

ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Additional Shareholder Information-ASX Listing Rule 4.10. as at 1 April 2013

SHARES :     

Twenty Largest Holdings : 
Ordinary Fully Paid Shares.

As at 
1/04/13

% Issued
Shares Ranking

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 112,475,798 11.02 1

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 77,655,717 7.61 2

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 69,287,125 6.79 3

PAROHA NOMINEES PTY LTD 61,167,143 6.00 4

JOGRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 45,684,658 4.48 5

MR ROSS COPELAND + MRS GINA COPELAND 43,887,735 4.30 6

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY 

LIMITED 39,383,376 3.86 7

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) 

LIMITED 24,032,367 2.36 8

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 

<CASH INCOME A/C> 16,197,463 1.59 9

ZAHAVETTE PTY LTD 13,737,372 1.35 10

MR ROSS GRAHAM COPELAND + MRS GINA 

COPELAND <PUBLICITY PRESS S/F A/C> 10,854,793 1.06 11

SUPERDES PTY LTD <SUPERDES SUPER FUND 

A/C> 8,000,000 0.78 12

MR JEFFREY MARKOFF <MARKOFF SUPER 

ST5 A/C> 7,365,575 0.72 13

DALSEY PTY LTD <THE DALSEY SUPER A/C> 6,448,752 0.63 14

PARADYCE PTY LTD 6,172,552 0.61 15

MR DAVID SEGAL 6,113,666 0.60 16

DR ESRA OGRU 5,711,610 0.56 17

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 5,625,000 0.55 18

DECOLAND HOLDINGS PTY LTD 5,500,000 0.54 19

MRS DANIELLE SEGAL 5,140,000 0.50 20

Sub-Total – Top 20 Holders  570,440,702  55.91 

                – Other Holders 449,775,255.00  44.09 

TOTAL ISSUED SHARES  1,020,215,957 100.00

VOTING RIGHTS – Shares : One vote per share.

RANGE OF SHAREHOLDERS 1/04/13

Range Holders Units %

1-1000  469  120,599 0.01

1001-5000  1,104  3,488,240 0.34

5001-10000  929  7,511,125 0.74

10001-100000  2,764  105,065,932 10.30

100001-OVER  886  904,030,061 88.61

 6,152  1,020,215,957  100.00

MARKETABLE PARCELS - SHARES     
Holdings that are less than a marketable parcel of the Company’s ordinary fully paid shares as at 1 April 

2013 at a closing price of A$0.13 a share, consisted of a total of 1,148 holders each holding a parcel of 

less than 3,847 shares and covering an aggregate of 1,678,286 shares.    
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BUY-BACK
The Company has not undertaken any share buy-back plans during or since the year ended 

31 December 2012

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
The following Substantial Shareholdings (‘SSH’) have been declared to the Company :

Holder of relevant interest
Entitlement to
No. securities 

Date of SSH
Notice Form No.

Orbis Global Equity Fund Ltd  133,609,911 22.03.2012 604

Harry Rosen  64,226,436  16.01.2012 604

Ross G Copeland  45,175,335  14.09.2011 603

Broking Commissions: Not applicable.

UNQUOTED OPTIONS
OPTIONS : EXPIRED 31 MARCH 2013

As at closed of buisness on 31 March 2013 the Company had received applications for the exercise of 

250,000 options at an exercise price of $0.142 an option.

As such, a total of 4,750,000 March 31 2013 options automatically lapsed through non-exercise.

Following clearance of funds the Company will be issuing 250,000 new ordinary fully paid shares arising 

from the the exercise of the 31 March 2013 options.

VOTING RIGHTS : The 31 March 2013 Options carried no voting rights.

OPTIONS : 22 MAY 2014

Twenty Largest Holdings : 
(expiring 22 May 2014 & exercisable 
at 17.0cents each.) 

Number 
Options Held

% Issued
Capital Ranking

Mr K Poutakidis 1,000,000  100.00  1

The options are fully vested and may be exercised at any time before the stated expiry date.

VOTING RIGHTS : Options carry no voting rights.

Employee Share Option Plan (“The Plan”)

As at the date of this report the Company has on issue under the terms & conditions of the PLAN an 

aggregate of 3.25 million ESOP options with various expiry dates and exercise prices. The options may be 

exercised at any time before the stated expiry date after they have become fully vested. As at the date of 

this report no ESOP options have been exercised.

A summary of the options issued under the PLAN is:

Granted 15,900,000

Less Lapsed -12,650,000

Number of options now on issue 3,250,000

Number fully vested options 3,250,000

Number non-vested options  -

3,250,000

On a fully diluted basis the number of unexercised ESOP options (3,250,000) represents 0.31 per cent of 

all issued securities

VOTING RIGHTS : ESOP Options carry no voting rights.     
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

UNQUOTED RESTRICTED SECURITIES

Conditional Rights  

At the 2011 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the establishment of an employees 

Conditional Rights Plan.     

At the same meeting shareholders approved and authorised the Company to issue a total of 5,800,000 

Rights to the directors noted in the various resolutions. In addition to the 5,800,00 shareholder authorised 

Rights the Company has issued, in total, 13,450,000 Rights to employees bringing the total number of 

Rights issued under the Plan to 19,250,000.     

Up to and including 1 April 2013 a total of 2,300,00 employee Rights have lapsed leaving a total of 

non-exercised Rights of 16,950,000 as at 1 April 2013.     

All Rights have been issued on the terms set out in the Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the 

Notice of Meeting for the 2011 Annual General Meeting. Upon the achievement of the stated milestones 

and having vested the Rights may be exercised on the basis of one new ordinary Phosphagenics Limited 

share for each Right so exercised.     

The Rights and any shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Rights are subject to the restrictions 

as set out in the Conditional Rights Plan document as referred to the the 2011 Annual General Meeting 

documentation.      

As at the date of this information no Rights have vested.
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